Advancing Stoma Care Services: evidence-based proposals for a best practice pathway

Rapid appraisal of the evidence

For further information please contact Dr Terri Porrett gbtpo@coloplast.com





This Review was initiated and funded by Coloplast UK and Ireland, and developed in partnership with the Advancing Stoma Care Services: Evidencebased Proposals for a Best Practice Pathway Project Advisory Board and Project group.



If you would like to download and share a copy of this document 'Advancing Stoma Care Services: evidence-based proposals for a best practice pathway' with colleagues, please scan this QR code for the PDF version.



If you would like the 2-page summary of this document with clear recommendations for practice, scan this QR code to download your PDF

Contents

Introduction	4
Methodology	5
Section 1: SCNs and stoma care in the UK: the current landscape	7
Professional training and education	7
The value of nurse-led stoma care	7
Current stoma patient management and care delivery	8
Coming changes to the NHS	10
Policy changes and new stakeholders	10
Finances and commissioning	10
Pathways and service redesign	10
Section 2: A thematic exploration of unmet needs: establishing an evidence base	11
Theme 1: Access to care and health inequities	11
Hospital- and home-based visits	11
Theme 2: Patient activation and self-management	12
Patient-initiated follow-up	13
Theme 3: Clinical standards: follow-up and complications	13
Reduced sexual function	15
A registry for people living with a stoma	15
Stoma care needs can change over time	17
Continuing research into clinical outcomes	17
Theme 4: Education provision	17
Product choice and selection	
Inclusive counselling, care and educational instruction	19
Theme 5: Psychological burden and psychosocial impact	19
Peer support	20
Web-based support	20
Sleep	21
Theme 6: Increase in digital access	22
Changes in response to COVID-19 and digital transformation programmes	22
Mobile applications	23
Theme 7: Urostomy	23
A consensus view from people living with a stoma: calls to action for improved care	24
The calls to action	24

Section 3: Case studies for informing future recommendations
Central components of an accredited pathway25
An RCN-accredited clinical pathway for stoma care25
Learning from IBD
Real-world case studies: examples from IBD
Case study: St Helens and Knowsley Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust
Case study: Oxford University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
Case study: East Sussex Healthcare NHS Trust: Using a nurse-led approach
Case study: Milton Keynes University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust: Managing patient follow-up appointments
Real-world case studies: stoma care
Case study: Cheshire & Merseyside Health & Care Partnership
Looking beyond a fully-integrated stoma care pathway: profiling patients for personalisation 32
Section 4: Conclusion
Section 5: Considerations for a fully integrated stoma care pathway
Abbreviations
References

Introduction

Stoma surgery is primarily performed to treat cancer or inflammatory bowel disease (IBD), or to resolve obstructions or diseases of the bowel or bladder. Stoma formation is intended to improve quality of life (QoL). However, it poses considerable challenges to the patient and caregivers alike. In the UK, an estimated 160,000–205,0000 people live with a stoma and 21,000 people are thought to require stoma formation surgery each year.^{1,2} Exact numbers are not known due to the lack of good quality recording and documentation. Compounding this information gap is a significant number of ostomates who do not attend a regular stoma review and can be lost to follow-up.³

Clinical pathways are tools used to guide evidence-based healthcare.⁴ They translate clinical practice guideline recommendations into clinical processes of care, with consideration given to the unique culture and environment of a particular healthcare institution. However, although various National Health Service (NHS) Foundation Trusts across England have independently established management flowcharts covering four phases of stoma care – pre-operative, in-hospital, returning home and life with a stoma – there is still no nationwide standardised fully integrated stoma care pathway that Integrated Care Boards (ICBs) across the country uniformly adhere to. The current pathways are based on the standards set by the Association of Stoma Care Nurses United Kingdom (ASCN UK)⁵ but are becoming outdated and may not reflect recent evidence-based findings.

A truly comprehensive stoma care pathway would be based on, and consistently followed according to, a set of evidence-based guidelines or standards that ensure patients receive consistent, high-quality care regardless of where they receive treatment. Such a pathway would be implemented at the organisational level, with a structured, collaborative approach to treatment, management and follow-up from the multidisciplinary team.

According to the World Health Organization, integrated care service is a method of improving peoplecentred health systems by offering comprehensive, high-quality care across a lifespan, tailored to the needs of both the population and individuals. It is delivered by a coordinated team of healthcare providers across different settings and levels of care, and managed efficiently using the best available evidence to ensure optimal outcomes and efficient use of resources. Feedback is used to continuously improve performance and address the root causes of illness through inter-sectoral and multi-sectoral actions to promote overall wellbeing.⁶

It is time to build on best practices with a cohesive and holistic approach, that also incorporates the prevention and health inequalities agenda promoted by the NHS Long Term Plan.⁷ Preventive public health helps reduce the burden of healthcare in the longer term and ensures patients can access the right care in the right place at the right time. This goal highlights the need to establish a standardised, integrated pathway for stoma care.

This rapid appraisal of the evidence covers a selection of literature with the aims of highlighting the unmet needs of individuals with a stoma during their pre and post-operative journey and outlining the essential criteria for designing an optimal standard stoma care pathway.

The appraisal is organised into five sections:

- 1. The current situation of stoma care nurses (SCNs) and stoma care in the UK. The evolution of training and education, the role of SCNs, and an examination of current models of stoma care delivery.
- 2. The unmet needs of existing stoma care pathways, organised into six key themes: access to care and health equity, patient activation and self-management, clinical standards, education provision, psychological burden and psychosocial impact, and changes in response to COVID-19.
- 3. Evaluation of several 'best practice' stoma care pathway case studies, and establishment of the criteria required for a stoma care pathway, which are organised into four key pillars: quality of care, costs, patient experience and health equity, and efficient improvement in clinical outcomes.
- 4. A summary of the key recommendations for standardised stoma care delivery.
- 5. The case for an informed, evidence-based approach to stoma care delivery. An examination of existing pathways in stoma care and IBD, and proposals for the future, plus inclusion criteria and additional factors that a stoma care pathway would require.

Methodology

This rapid appraisal of the evidence uses a selection of identified literature, directed by keyword search, and a set of grey literature accrued over the past decade, to identify the evidence to enable the essential components of a stoma care pathway to be explicated.

Search strategy: A comprehensive search of the PubMed, CINAHL, Embase, and Science Direct databases was performed using a combination of keywords related to stoma care service delivery and unmet need. (stoma care, specific unmet needs, and healthcare inequities). Further potential studies were identified through screening references of relevant articles. The search was limited to studies published in the last 10 years and written in English. In addition, case reports, implementation guidelines issued by regional facilities, survey results and reports commissioned or sponsored by several stakeholder companies, institutions and organisations were also included.

The following search terms were used singly or in combination in all fields: "accessories"; "acute care"; "adjustment disorders"; "anticipatory education provision"; "appliance"; "aids"; "body image"; "body profile"; "clinical standards"; "colostomy"; "community nursing"; "continent diversions"; "continuous care"; "continuous professional development"; "COVID-19"; "cultural diversity"; "culturally sensitive counselling"; "depressive disorders"; "developmental stage"; "face-to-face"; "flange"; "follow-up"; "health-care delivery"; "health-related quality of life"; "home-based"; "hospital-based"; "ileostomy"; "incidence"; "interventions"; "mental health"; "nursing-led education program"; "obesity"; "ongoing education provision"; "ostomates"; "ostomy"; "patient activation"; "patient education"; "patient rights"; "patient self-management"; "patient-initiated follow-up"; "peer-based support"; "peristomal skin complications"; "peristomal skin"; "physiological problems"; "post-acute care"; "post-discharge care"; "post-operative"; "preoperative care"; "pre-operative"; "prevalence"; "product choice"; "product selection"; "professional training"; "psychological burden"; "psychological problems"; "psychosocial adjustment"; "psychosocial impact"; "psychosocial wellbeing"; "quality of life"; "regional database"; "registry data"; "registry"; "SCN"; "self-efficacy"; "sexual dysfunction"; "sleep disorders"; "social problems"; "social support"; "standards of care"; "stoma appliances choice"; "stoma appliances"; "stoma care nursing; "stoma care"; "stoma complications"; "stoma formation surgery"; "stoma formation"; "telecare"; "telecommunication"; "teleconsultation"; "telephone contact"; "urostomy"; "web-based support"; "sleep quality".

Inclusion criteria: No formal search criteria were applied.

Outcomes of interest: The main outcome of this rapid appraisal of the evidence included the identification of evidence of the unmet needs of patients with a stoma and the impact on patient and carer self-efficacy or QoL. Other outcomes included individual and treatment-related factors adversely affecting the QoL, for which studies published between 2013 and 2023 were considered. These add to a comprehensive evaluation of the current state of knowledge on the unmet needs of individuals living with a stoma and help identify potential opportunities for improvement in addressing these needs. The findings of this appraisal will inform the development of a standardised, integrated pathway for stoma care, taking a cohesive and holistic approach that incorporates the prevention and health inequalities agenda promoted by the NHS Long Term Plan.

Study design and language restrictions: A wide range of literature was included: studies with prospective, cross-sectional, and descriptive designs; randomised clinical trials; studies with retrospective designs; case studies; conference abstracts; letters to the editor; literature reviews; and systematic reviews and meta-analyses. Grey literature included policy statements and issues papers; research reports produced by government departments, academics, business, and industry; guidelines; white papers; preprints; working papers; and conference proceedings. These were identified via a grey literature search plan with four different searching strategies: grey literature databases, customised Google search engines, targeted websites, and consultation with contact experts. Only studies published in English were included, and no geographical restrictions were imposed.

Data extraction and synthesis: Characteristics of the included studies and attributes of participants were not reviewed against any specific criteria. The extracted data were examined to identify common themes and trends related to the unmet needs of individuals living with a stoma and the role of healthcare providers in addressing these needs.

A note on the clinical studies cited in this rapid appraisal of the evidence

Many of the studies presented here are small-scale. The literature search identified very few that included large numbers of patients, highlighting the urgent need for more research in the field of stoma care. The Best Practice Pathway Project Advisory Board and Project group is committed to addressing these information gaps to improve the lives of people who have a stoma and to support the wider stoma care community.

Section 1: SCNs and stoma care in the UK: the current landscape

Professional training and education

The first training course for SCNs was held in 1973.⁸ In the 1980s, the English National Board (ENB) developed two national courses specific to stoma care, a basic course for novice, and a longer, more advanced course for more experienced SCNs

The training moved to university-level diploma and degree qualifications around 2012. To meet the standards set by the ASCN UK, nurses must complete an educational programme at a degree or master's level and pass clinical practice and competency evaluations. Although there is no further specialised stoma education required, nurses must complete 35 hours of continuing education every three years to remain registered with the Nursing and Midwifery Council (NMC).⁹

However, as many continuing education events are principally theory-based with an occasional practical element, they do not cover all of the learning requirements to ensure competence in a clinical setting. There are aspects of stoma care, for example stoma siting, which also require training in the workplace. A nationwide survey conducted to understand the educational needs of SCNs showed that the main reasons for taking courses were professional development, enhancing clinical knowledge and improving patient care. The SCNs' individual needs were very varied due to the wide range of their clinical experiences, physical location and previous education. However, respondents generally wanted high quality, tailored content, with a clinically-relevant presenter.⁹

The value of nurse-led stoma care

As experienced general nurses and expert specialists, SCNs offer a comprehensive approach to holistic patient care, bringing knowledge from both formal education and experiential learning.¹⁰

In outlining what a good stoma care support service looks like, the *Excellence in Stoma Care* guideline shows how SCNs add value by:¹⁰

- Providing expert quality care with efficiency and reduced costs
- Providing expert advice and clinical leadership for integrated care within a case management role
- Monitoring other aspects of patient care
- Taking a holistic approach, with physical and psychological care for the individual's needs
- Bringing care closer to home and reducing the burden of long-term conditions
- Preventing stomal complications
- Achieving cost efficiency savings through expert product knowledge and reduced prescribing costs
- Facilitating timely discharge and preventing delayed discharge and potential readmission
- Educating patients and carers, and staff, students and colleagues on the ward

The case of the Nurse-Led Stoma Care Clinic at Royal Glamorgan Hospital and Ysbyty Cwm Rhondda showed that an ~£86K investment (the sum of staff running costs, staff travel costs and stoma appliance costs) annually resulted in productivity savings of £200K for the healthcare system in 2015. Nurse-led care also provided an evidence-based structured follow-up programme that reduced the rate of peristomal skin complications (PSCs) from 48% to 19.6%. This improved patient and family care while also enhancing

the overall quality of the organisation through the education of healthcare professionals and the delivery of an efficient and patient-centred clinic that met key targets and guidelines.¹¹

SCN value has been demonstrated further using patient surveys: patients report greater satisfaction with care when SCNs are involved, because of improved access to coordinated care, and more education and support for families and carers.¹²

SCN-led services support patients to maximise their rehabilitation while providing numerous costeffective and cost-efficient benefits.¹¹ A comprehensive stoma care pathway, led by SCNs, must meet national framework standards to address the clinical and social needs of patients living with long-term conditions.¹⁰ This includes community stoma care: SCNs can assess the patient and their home circumstances to help prevent falls, provide pre-operative stoma education in the patient's home, monitor the patient's nutritional status post-discharge, carry out telephone consultations, help with product selection, support psychosocial wellbeing, and ensure continuity of care to reduce hospital readmissions.^{11,13}

Current stoma patient management and care delivery

Delivery of stoma services is done at a local and regional level,⁵ which has led to inequities in the delivery of services across the UK. *The voice of ostomates: an exploration of stoma care in England* (2021),^a a nationwide survey of people with stomas, highlighted the significant variation across England in stoma care received and services available in hospital and at home. Although some patients rated aspects of their care as excellent, others provided comments showing that clinical care remains suboptimal for many:¹⁴

- Didn't receive visits from the stoma team, or received visits that were irregular, short and untimely
- The nurse did not allow sufficient time for their care needs, or did not have the training to help with the stoma-specific issues that arose
- The SCNs were not available out of hours, at weekends, or during bank holidays
- Lack of counselling to help cope with the body changes and demands of having a stoma

An audit by Northampton ICB found that:15

62%

of patients had not seen a nurse about their stoma in over 2 years 21% of stoma prescribing costs were for supporting products that were not contributing to improved outcomes 35%

of patients reported sore skin 62% of patients reported leakage 63

products were stopped when found to be inappropriate to needs/wastage

^a n=2504 total responses; 41 questions on demography, interactions with the SCN, stoma products and delivery service, and personal experience¹⁴

Stoma care products are supplied by FP10 prescription and dispensed via community pharmacies or dispensing appliance contractors (DACs) that manage and deliver products directly to patients. However, Rotherham ICB found that in some cases patients were:¹⁵

- Having to modify equipment
- Receiving equipment they didn't want or order
- Remaining housebound due to poor continence equipment

An estimated 80% of patients experience equipment-related problems (including skin irritation/soreness, blockage, leakage, difficulties with attaching and removing) at some point.¹⁶⁻²⁰

Recent changes to the NHS Supply Chain model for procurement were introduced under the Department of Health Procurement Transformation Programme.²¹ The Collaborative Procurement Partnership (CPP) is responsible for the procurement of products in several therapy areas including stoma care. Clinical teams work with clinicians, end users, and suppliers to ensure patient safety standards.²² NHS England's commissioned guide, *Delivering Excellence in Stoma Care* (2020), highlights four common issues with stoma product delivery:^{3,22}

- 1. While company-sponsored SCNs operate independently of the sponsor company, patients may switch to sponsored products upon discharge if they receive support materials from the sponsoring company, leading to increased costs in primary care and limited patient choice. These products may not be listed in local formularies or have been assessed for cost-effectiveness
- 2. Patients may be prescribed stoma products in the hospital that they cannot access in the community due to formulary or cost issues
- 3. Over-prescription by general practitioners (GPs) leads to oversupply and wastefulness
- 4. DACs ordering products before a prescription is issued can result in patient disappointment and waste

Prescribing appropriate products and managing complications requires ongoing clinical assessment. Patients should be reviewed annually to ensure that they are managing well and using the right equipment, and have no issues such as infections needing clinical care.¹⁵ *Delivering Excellence in Stoma Care* recommends the development of a Stoma Support Service and a Prescribing Hub for effective prescription management and control so that patients receive tailored product decisions, including product type and quantity. Other recommendations include:¹⁵

- A single stoma support service across both primary and secondary care settings
- The use of NHS-funded nurses vs industry-sponsored nurses where possible
- A clinically approved formulary between ICBs and providers
- SCN-approved prescription changes via a patient partnership
- ICB should insist that acute trusts buy stoma products from the NHS supply chain or via a contract that has been awarded the public sector procurement regulations, and to which the ICB has had input, even if they are not a stakeholder.

Other methods of Stoma Prescription Service approaches include those implemented by Cheshire and Merseyside ICB, which takes a DAC-sponsored approach.^{23,24} It offers expert advice, product changes and supporting products usage. This service is provided outside of the commissioned community continence service and has enhanced the patient experience by streamlining how products are ordered. Patients

speak to a trained call centre operator who carries out a screening checklist before ordering products; those identified as experiencing issues are scheduled in for a call with an SCN for advice. Patients may receive a face-to-face review if necessary.²³

It is recommended that these actions are integrated into the stoma care pathway to improve the patient experience and the quality of care, and reduce cost.

Coming changes to the NHS

The NHS continues to face many challenges in areas such as capacity, finance, workforce and integration. Changes in three major areas will impact future industry engagement with the NHS.²⁵

Policy changes and new stakeholders

The updated planning guidance includes reduced central monitoring with fewer targets (35 instead of the previous 130). It has three central aims: to improve activity levels, reducing the backlog and waiting times; to continue to implement the NHS Long Term Plan; to continue to drive forward service transformation. The Hewitt Review of integration may result in devolved authority, accountability and commissioning, which is likely to happen in stages as different services are at varying levels of readiness for this change. The Long Term Plan is to be refreshed, with a focus on areas including more joined-up community-based and preventative care, transformed access to urgent, emergency and planned care, and tackling health inequalities – all particularly relevant to the stoma care community.²⁵

Finances and commissioning

It is likely that yet more "efficiencies" will be required from the systems and services that make up the NHS to try to cope with inflation and increased prescribing costs. For example, emergency admissions are costly and more could be done to reduce those arising from manageable long-term conditions. Industry partners could add value by demonstrating benefits for staff and time pressures and reduced system costs. ²⁵ Despite proven cost efficiency and cost effective service delivery, financial and workforce challenges mean SCN's are facing down banding at a time when older SCN's are retiring.

Pathways and service redesign

Cost and workforce constraints combined with growing demand for services are resulting in a need for service redesign. Drivers of pathway change include requirements for more patient involvement, increased home-based care, improved diagnostics, reduced unnecessary referrals, better patient access, and better health equity, and the technological advances that allow remote consultations and monitoring.²⁵

Section 2: A thematic exploration of unmet needs: establishing an evidence base

The diverse unmet needs of people living with a stoma can be grouped into seven overarching themes.

Theme 1: Access to care and health inequities

The weakest link in community services for the rehabilitation of patients with stomas is the lack of equitable access and continuity of care. Good communication and teamwork among district nursing teams are vital for supporting patients through their stoma surgery recovery.²⁶⁻²⁸ Continuing care is recognised as a key element of high-quality health services and is considered essential to patients.^{29,30} This includes all elements of stoma care that help patients live independently after discharge and resume a normal life in a shorter period.³¹

Patients can receive comprehensive and continuous care from SCNs throughout the post-operative recovery period.³¹ This is essential to ensure that patients are discharged from the hospital with education on stoma care, which promotes a positive QoL.³² The effectiveness of different continuous nursing care interventions varies.³³⁻³⁵ The ideal approach and level of stoma care needed remains unclear due to a lack of standard protocols and comprehensive research analysis.³¹

A meta-analysis evaluating the effectiveness of continuous care by SCNs versus routine care has demonstrated improved health outcomes and care satisfaction in patients with stomas (9 studies, 1134 participants).³¹ Stoma self-efficacy and QoL significantly increased one month after discharge; stoma adjustment (the process of adapting to the new challenges) and care satisfaction also showed a trend toward improvement, while stoma complications decreased significantly. These align with previous findings in a range of chronic diseases (e.g., osteoporosis,³⁶ dementia,³⁷ and alcohol use disorders³⁰).

Given the variability in the effectiveness of continuous care interventions, an integrated continuing care programme should include five key elements: patient-centeredness, continuity of care, evidence-based practice, multi-professional teamwork, and continuous quality improvement. An adaptable approach that allows for variation in intervention intensity, frequency, and duration is crucial.³¹ This is supported by a UK CPP survey, which highlights the differing needs of individuals with a stoma and should be a key consideration in stoma care planning and delivery.¹⁴ Therefore, future stoma care pathways must provide equitable and continuous care, with a variety of follow-up options and patient-centred branches, aligned with the new statutory guidance for working with patients and communities.³⁸

Hospital- and home-based visits

The voice of ostomates: an exploration of stoma care in England survey found significant variation in service provision and patient experience outcomes, including the frequency of face-to-face or telephone contact, and long-term support needs. Although 47% of patients receiving home-based care had positive experiences, 40% reported negative experiences. The survey highlighted the need for long-term physical and psychological support beyond initial recovery from surgery. The provision of visits, ease of patient-directed access, and quality of care were found to be linked to patients' perceived inadequate psychological support.¹⁴

In the hospital setting, 40% stated 'everything was excellent'; however, 8% provided candid and detailed negative personal experiences and reflected limitations in visits, psychological care, specialist stoma

knowledge, and products. Among them, physical care and information-sharing in the hospital were raised as positive elements of hospital-based care.¹⁴

These experiences will be further explored in detail in the following sections. Given the variation in the preference and experience of care, it is therefore necessary to enable greater flexibility via a discharge model that best meets local needs, including an approach known in England as 'discharge to assess'.^{39,40} This complements the overarching conclusion that equitable access and continuity of care in a future fully-integrated stoma care pathway involves a flexible approach to follow-up review.¹⁴

Theme 2: Patient activation and self-management

'Patient activation' is the knowledge, skills and confidence that individuals have in managing their own health.⁴¹ Highly activated patients understand their role in the care process and are more likely to engage in positive health behaviours and manage their health conditions effectively, while those with low levels of activation are less likely to take an active role in their health and may have difficulty seeking help and following medical advice.⁴¹ Understanding the drivers of patient activation can allow better tailoring of patient support and interventions.

Research indicates that patients with higher levels of activation have better health outcomes and care experiences.⁴² A study of patients with moderate to severe depression found that level of patient activation was a predictor of remission or improvement within 12 months. Patients with higher levels of activation were also more likely to adopt healthy behaviours, such as smoking cessation and weight loss, and more likely to attend screening tests for cancer.⁴³

To understand the effect of patient activation in the UK, 13-item Patient Activation Measure (PAM) questionnaires were sent to an existing cohort of NHS England-identified patients aged 65+ with longterm conditions.⁴⁴ The PAM questionnaire comprises 13 statements that gauge the patient's beliefs about healthcare, confidence in managing health tasks, and self-assessed knowledge of their condition, using a response scale of 1 to 5 (1 = "strongly disagree", 4 = "strongly agree", 5 = "not applicable" [treated as missing data]). The patient must answer at least 10 questions, and the final score ranges from 0 to 100, where higher scores indicate greater patient activation.⁴⁵ Of 4,377 participants, 15% reported PAM level 1, 16% level 2, 45% level 3, and 25% level 4 at baseline. Depression was the strongest factor associated with patient activation, followed by older age, retirement, poor health literacy, health-related quality of life (HRQoL), social support, and number of comorbidities. Patient activation scores were relatively stable over 6 months (r = 0.43), but almost half of the participants changed their activation level during that time, with few variables predicting the change. The researchers concluded that levels of patient activation in this population vary, with low activation observed in depressed, older, retired patients with poor health literacy and those lacking social support. If patient activation proves to be a valuable concept for targeting interventions, these findings may aid in identifying patients who require activation and suggest potential methods for improving activation levels to enhance outcomes.⁴⁴

A three-year, randomised trial examined the effect of adding a telehealth-based Ostomy Self-Management Training (OSMT) programme to usual care (standard stoma care, written materials, contacts for support) for cancer survivors and their carers.^{†46,47} The aim was for the patients to attain self-efficacy, with a focus on building self-management skills and confidence in managing stomas through goal-setting,

⁺ n=216, of which n=118 completed the 6-month survey (55 in the OSMT group and 63 from the usual care group)⁴⁷

problem-solving and mutual support. The OSMT was delivered via group videoconferencing, with three survivor sessions, a carer session, and a booster session for both survivors and carers, led by trained SCNs and peer stoma patients.^{46,48-50} Early findings suggest that patients benefited from the OSMT, reporting fewer challenges in psychological wellbeing, social wellbeing, spiritual wellbeing, ostomy-specific issues, and healthcare issues than patients who received only usual care.⁴⁷ This illustrates the need for long-term care and support for all cancer survivors with a stoma.^{47,51,52}

These findings complement those of an earlier pilot study evaluating the effectiveness of a five-session stoma self-care curriculum aimed at improving HRQoL and self-management for cancer survivors with stomas. Thirty-eight participants, mostly with a history of rectal or bladder cancer, took part in the study and rated the programme highly. Results showed significant improvements in patient activation, self-efficacy, total HRQoL, physical and social wellbeing, and reduced anxiety by follow-up. The programme can help cancer survivors adapt to their stoma and its implementation in the community would be beneficial.⁵³

Patient-initiated follow-up

Patient-initiated follow-up (PIFU) gives patients control over their post-discharge care, allowing them to be seen quickly when needed and eliminating clinically low-value appointments. The NHS 2022/23 operational planning guide aims to accelerate the shift towards this more personalised approach, reducing outpatient follow-ups by at least 25% compared to 2019/20 levels and expanding the uptake of PIFU in all major outpatient specialities (moving or discharging 5% of outpatient attendances to PIFU) by March 2023.⁵⁴ PIFU implementation in outpatient services should be locally led and supported by strong leadership from the system and trust.⁵⁵

There is no research examining the effect of PIFU in stoma care. Current practice places the SCN at the helm of care. The *Excellence in Stoma Care* guideline offers evidence-based recommendations for delivering consistent and appropriate stoma care services.¹⁰ This guideline, funded by Coloplast and independently authored, is based on the NHS Outcomes Framework and is intended to inform commissioners of cost-effective ways to provide the best possible care for stoma patients . Additionally, the complementary document Stoma Care Nurse Specialist (Virgin-Elliston et al, 2019b) highlights the positive impact of SCN interventions.⁵⁶ Both guidelines position SCNs as responsible for identifying and referring patients to other specialists such as psychologists and dermatologists as needed, to address altered body image, social exclusion, anxiety and other related issues.^{10,56}

The preferences of stoma patients are varied (for example *The voice of ostomates: an exploration of stoma care in England* survey found that 40% wanted an annual review, but 28% did not want any routine follow-up¹⁴) and a standard stoma care pathway should aim to accommodate these differences. As such, PIFU is a concept that should be considered in tandem with the SCN-led approach.

Theme 3: Clinical standards: follow-up and complications

Stoma complications such as leakage, PSCs, hernia, infection, stoma retraction, ischaemia and prolapse can occur early, within one month of surgery, or late, after the first post-operative month.¹⁸ The reported incidence ranges between 2.9% and 81%; there is a negative impact on patient QoL and an added financial burden on the healthcare sector.¹⁸

PSCs are the most commonly reported morbidity.⁵⁷⁻⁵⁹ Over 80% of people living with a stoma will develop PSCs within two years of surgery.⁶⁰ The majority of these are related to leakage due to a poorly secured

pouch.⁶¹ The development of PSCs during the 120 days following stoma formation is associated with hospital readmission and longer lengths of hospital stay.^{62,63} Moreover, leakage or PSC of any severity are associated with a significant reduction in HRQoL – stoma patients have even expressed willingness to trade remaining life-years for reduced stoma complications.⁶⁴

Additional problems may develop, including excessive time committed to stoma management, damage to clothing, stigma and social embarrassment, and limited participation in interpersonal and social activities.⁶⁵⁻⁶⁷ Therefore, confidence in producing and maintaining a firm, leakage-free pouch seal from application to removal is central to successful patient self-management.⁶¹

Despite the knowledge and understanding of all these potential complications, the level of support and follow-up varies across the UK; even where individualised care plans are in place, patients may be overlooked and suffer as a result.⁶⁸ An audit conducted in 2014 demonstrated a range of follow-up reviews carried out by SCNs; these varied between one and ten visits in the first year following surgery.^{‡69} The ASCN advocates long-term support for patients,⁵ as not all problems occur within the first year. Incidence of complications is highest during the first five years after stoma creation⁷⁰ and so an annual evaluation is recommended for ongoing preventive care, which includes making any necessary changes to the stoma pouching system and providing continuous emotional support.⁷¹

SCNs are critical to management of stoma complications: for example, lack of access to SCNs places patients at the greatest risk of developing PSCs. This extends to the pre-operative phase. Many issues associated with poorly sitting stomas, such as leakage, PSCs or the discomfort of having an ill-fitting appliance, are seen in patients undergoing emergency surgery or in those whose stoma site was not selected by the SCNs. Patients whose site was selected by SCNs were found to suffer fewer complications than those whose site was selected by other healthcare professionals;⁷²⁻⁷⁴ literature suggests that stomas should ideally be placed by an SCN to minimise the risk of complication.⁷³ Indeed, the role of the SCN in stoma site identification has been highlighted in the *High Impact Actions for Stoma Care* report, which reveals that the 'textbook definition' of the optimal stoma site is rarely attained, and appropriate selection requires collaboration between the surgeon, the SCN and the patient.¹³

Without SCNs, minor issues with stoma fitting can lead to an increased use of products and supporting products, extended hospital stay, continued reliance on community nursing services and more expensive treatment.^{13,75} Audits from 2010 to 2012 support the value of SCN-led stoma care clinics, with a 40% reduction in the rate of PSCs.¹¹ Moreover, SCN-led approaches were predicted to produce an estimated 90% cost reduction to the NHS over two years.¹¹ Effective PSC management was estimated in 2015 to have saved £157,996 over two years. Hence, periodic check-ups and follow-up care with an SCN can address the need for long-term, supportive care for patients and their families.⁶⁵

SCNs have been central to the understanding of new PSC's and development of a risk factor model and (Leblanc K et al, 2019, Hansen et al, 2022). Identified risk factors were grouped under three main areas. Examples from each include:^{76 (a) (b)}

• Healthcare System – lack of stoma marking, lack of best practice guidelines, access to postdischarge programmes, level of education in stoma care of the healthcare professionals involved

[‡] n=16 SCNs; outcomes of 1027 visits were recorded and analysed⁶⁹

- Individual with a stoma peristomal body profile, stoma type, impact of concurrent treatments such as immunosuppression, ability to self-care, available support network, standard of living
- Ostomy product solutions fit to body profile, wear time, adhesive properties, range and type of product available

The risk factor model and the consensus management of medical adhesive related skin injury, have the potential to be included in guidelines for healthcare professionals and to be used as a tool in daily clinical practice.^{76(a,b)}

Reduced sexual function

When considering the impact of a stoma on the patient, there is often a focus on the physical changes, with less attention given to the psychological effects. Sexual problems have been little-studied,⁷⁷ and many patients with a stoma are not fully informed about the possible problems they may encounter, or about sexual counselling and appropriate medical treatment options.⁷⁸ Yet reduced sexual function is widespread and can negatively affect the QoL of patients with a stoma who can experience severe sexual dissatisfaction and dysfunction.^{78,79} The causes are determined by both psychological (deterioration in body image, lack of control, concern about the stoma) and physical factors (type of surgery, treatment, type of stoma).⁸⁰ There is a need for recognition of sexual problems by patients and healthcare staff, and different models (PLISSIT and 5A) have been developed to promote dialogue.^{77,81}

There are several validated questionnaires and interviews to assess sexual function but no specific questionnaire for patients with a stoma. Commonly used questionnaires for women include the Female Sexual Function Index (FSFI), Expanded Sexual Arousability Inventory (SAI-E), Brief Index of Sexual Functioning (BISF-W); for men there are the International Index of Erectile Function (IIEF), the Brief Sexual Function Questionnaire (BSFQ), and the Brief Sexual Function Inventory (BSFI). The recommendations of a systematised review include creating a specific, standardised questionnaire for this population to help address the changes in sexual function that occur after stoma formation.⁸⁰ Available resources to improve sexual function include increased security and control of the stoma, specific recommendations for problems like decreased libido, vaginal dryness, pain or arousal disorders, and avoidance of pressure on the abdomen or stoma bag during intercourse.^{82,83}

A registry for people living with a stoma

Clinical registries collect patient data that can be variously used to describe the course of diseases or conditions, measure quality of care, monitor patient safety, assess the effectiveness of healthcare products and services, and examine costs.⁸⁴ An example is the role of registries in the management of familial adenomatous polyposis, where their original aim was to identify at-risk relatives and ensure their lifelong participation in the surveillance programme.⁸⁵ Although a national stoma registry would undoubtedly be useful, there is not one in the UK.⁸⁶

Other countries have stoma registry data that have been mined for large cohort studies to report longterm outcomes and to develop predictive models of stoma complications.⁸⁷ They have also been used to compare outcomes in patients with and without a stoma.⁸⁸ In Italy, the proof-of-concept SYSTEMIC (o**S**tom**Y** regi**ST**ry pr**E**dictive **M**odelIng out**C**ome) project introduced a conceptually novel stoma registry tailored to aetiological investigations and prospectively improving patient-oriented outcomes. Information from 52 participants in the newly established registry was used to develop an algorithm for predicting the onset of stoma complications. The resulting tool had moderate accuracy (70%) in identifying at-risk patients.⁸⁷

A regional database in Denmark, with 1,123 patients registered by 2013, contains information on PSCs, entered by stoma care clinicians at multiple collaborating medical centres. The database is fully operational and has a high rate of data completeness, and provides data about patients with a stoma from before surgery up to 12 months after surgery. It is used for professional learning, systematic assessment of care quality and benchmarking. In real terms, the database showed evidence of an increase in the adoption of the practice of stoma marking in elective surgery, which is known to have a significant impact on patients' post-operative QoL.⁸⁹

Finally, reported results from the now-closed United Ostomy Association Registry (UOAR), which was based in the United States (US) and Canada, describe demographics, stoma types, self-reported complications and QoL for a cohort of over 16,000 individuals. The UOAR data suggest that the number of ileostomies and colostomies has decreased in the last ten years; this could be due to new advances in surgical techniques alongside improved operative techniques for rectal cancer. The authors of the study further note that if the UOAR can make surgeons fully aware of a patient's stoma function after surgery, then a contribution will have been made by the registry. This is because quality construction of stomas can be ensured only when surgeons have complete knowledge about a patient's function post stoma surgery. Hence, a registry such as the UOAR evidences the utility of information and data provided and the significant contribution that registries can make in improving or redesigning stoma care.⁹⁰

It is important to note the limitations of the active stoma registries worldwide. They rarely capture data concerning the specifics of stoma products (e.g., manufacturer, type, stock number), making cost analyses difficult.⁹⁰ The inclusion of such parameters is therefore important in future patient registry approaches.

Registries have the potential to be SCN-led, as illustrated by the Danish National Patient Register. This is a major factor underlying the validity and completeness of the database and is attributed to the collaboration between SCNs. A registry that allows participants to self-report data could enhance patient engagement and promote a patient-centred focus. An example is the Observation Study of Ostomy Consumers (OSO) registry, which collects self-reported data on perceived unmet needs via repeated electronic surveys completed by adults with a stoma, in the US and UK. The OSO registry thereby provides a continuous data stream that can be mined to enhance understanding of the patient experience over time. This longitudinal overview can facilitate clinical practice and research, healthcare utilisation and product innovation.⁸⁸

Registries can have broad inclusion criteria that allow the participation of individuals who might not be eligible for clinical trials, giving a more accurate representation of real-world experiences. Willingness to participate in a registry is believed to be positively influenced by factors such as convenience, trust, and a desire to share experiences, which can lead to increased enrolment and retention rates.⁸⁸ Lee et al. (2016) held discussions with three focus groups (23 participants in total) to determine their views, motivations, and potential barriers towards participation in a registry, uncovering several key themes.⁹¹ These included the desire to help others, the ability to connect with others in a similar situation, the desire to gain a better understanding of their condition, and the opportunity to build a more comprehensive picture of their health between doctor visits.⁹¹ These reported outcomes provide a strong argument for a registry alongside a standardised, fully-integrated stoma care pathway.

Stoma care needs can change over time

When developing a fully integrated stoma care pathway, the dynamic nature of stoma management should be factored into service delivery.¹¹ Stoma care may change across a patient's lifespan: as the body contours change, the stoma pouching system may need altering, updating or changing.

Factors affecting stoma complications include age, gender, obesity, stoma type and body profile, stoma site, the reason for surgery, comorbidity, and, in the ageing population, frailty and cognitive impairment.^{13,18,58} Two of the most important are comorbidities and obesity.^{72,74,92} In obesity, excessive subcutaneous fat and abnormal skin folds increase the risk of retraction, which requires further surgery and revision to rectify.⁹²

The consensus advice of practice guidelines is that the patient's ultimate security and comfort is best achieved by assessing the patient's peristomal body and stoma profiles and selecting the best-suited product type.⁶⁰

Currently, product selection and management support is usually led by the SCN and based on multiple factors, including the person's body shape, skin integrity, stoma construction, stoma output and patient dexterity. A standardised, fully integrated stoma care pathway must be flexible enough to allow for variation in the needs of people living with a stoma.¹⁴

Continuing research into clinical outcomes

A recent publication highlights the need for, and value of, more research into all aspects of stoma care. Loop ileostomy is a common surgical procedure to allow downstream tissue healing, with the aim of rejoining the bowel approximately 12 months later. However, the reversal procedure is associated with up to 40% morbidity. Beamish et al (2023) looked at the possible factors that could be increasing the rate of complications.[§] They found that tissue changes such as atrophy and fibrosis, length of time the temporary stoma was in place, and age of patient did not correlate with increased risk of complications. Instead, patients with reduced abundance of commensal bacteria were more likely to experience problems. The work also established that diversity of microflora did not correlate with higher risk. The authors concluded that future trials should work to optimise ways of reestablishing the microbiota in defunctioned bowel prior to reversal surgery.⁹³ This is just one example of how high-quality research can directly improve stoma care.

Theme 4: Education provision

The ability to manage stoma care is a recognised predictor for positive adjustment to life with a new stoma.⁶⁵ Results of an international consensus and studies support the SCN's role in providing post-operative follow-up care to stoma patients: support, information and resources reduce complications.^{10,94} SCNs contribute to the adaptation process to a stoma and thus improve long-term outcomes, overall QoL and better patient-recorded outcomes.^{10,13,61,70,95}

A systematic review of ostomy care pathways found that including preoperative education and counselling on the surgery, daily living and self-care, and post-operative education on stoma self-

[§] Clinical data for the total duration of hospital stay was obtained from 35 patients (from a cohort of 44 eligible patients) undergoing loop ileostomy reversal surgery.⁹³

management and possible complications, may contribute to improved patient outcomes.⁹⁶ This is in line with prior studies that concluded that education is a central component of stoma care.⁹⁷

The effects of such anticipatory and ongoing education provision are demonstrable. Patients in receipt of appropriate education present fewer complications, fewer hospital readmissions and higher QoL scores.^{98,99} Follow-up visits in the community promote independent patient self-care and successful adaptation.¹⁰⁰

The voice of ostomates: an exploration of stoma care in England survey highlighted the need for greater information provision – particularly, information that could help people living with a stoma manage independently, such as dealing with skin soreness, available products and diet.¹⁴ Patient-centred and self-care-focused post-operative education decreases the rate of readmission.¹⁰¹ Wu et al. (2007) suggested that people living with a stoma who have at least secondary education have higher self-efficacy.¹⁰² A higher level of education has also been associated with improved sexual function in people with a stoma.¹⁰³ It is important, therefore, not only to provide information but also to empower the people living with a stoma to access it, such as via an official stoma support group websites. Moreover, patients receiving nurse-led follow-up reported favourably on their outpatient experience in terms of information and support, helping them understand what to expect and what was 'normal' in their situation.^{**104}

Further studies have corroborated the importance of discussion of education in the pre-operative phase, addressing how patients will adapt and integrate their stoma. Other forms of education delivered in the post-operative phase may include post-surgical restrictions on diet and exercise with the projected advancement of diet and activity in acute care. Moreover, quality-of-life indicators covering physical and emotional adaptation, activities of daily living, diet and sexuality are all important elements that may be included in the pre- and post-operative educational process.^{100,105-107} Hence, patient education across all stages of care should be incorporated into a standardised, fully integrated stoma care pathway.

Product choice and selection

Adequate discharge planning is needed to ensure that people living with a stoma have appropriate supplies.¹⁴ In line with this, international consensus for the development of practice guidelines noted the need to select and change products as necessary in the event of stoma or skin complications.⁶¹

Moreover, the consensus of stoma experts highlights patient education and autonomy as critical factors in effective stoma care.⁶¹ Significant causes of psychological and physical impact on patients are insufficient product supplies and appliance failure.¹⁰⁸ Post-operative product selection support, education and guidance from the SCN may minimise the risk of appliance failure and the aforementioned downstream consequences.¹⁴

The current view of product choice and selection suggests patients are not offered a choice of dispensing services and sometimes experience restrictions when choosing a product. With regards to the choice of obtaining products (including prescribing) and customisation, *The voice of ostomates: an exploration of stoma care in England* survey revealed that 93% of participants received their stoma products from a DAC; 55% did not believe they had the autonomy of choice regarding where to obtain their stoma products, suggesting SCN-led selection of the DAC.¹⁴ This is important as the consequences of insufficient

^{**} Thematic analysis of in-depth interviews conducted with 27 patients who had completed treatment for colorectal cancer.¹⁰⁴

product supplies and appliance failure can have a significant psychological and physical impact on patients.¹⁰⁸

Regarding product choice and availability when transitioning from the hospital to home-based care, people living with a stoma commented that prompt delivery of, easy access to, and unrestricted choice of the product were important needs to be fulfilled.¹⁴ The physical and psychological impacts of poorly selected stoma appliances, combined with the new statutory guidance that mandates working in partnership with people and communities supported, indicates that patient-informed product choice and selection must feature prominently in future fully integrated stoma care pathways.³⁸

Inclusive counselling, care and educational instruction

Religion, ethnic grouping, age, gender, sexuality and learning disabilities can affect how stoma care is approached and supported. A review of diversity in stoma patients indicated that the cultural and ethnic needs of patients must be considered to provide sensitive and appropriate treatment.¹⁰⁹ This also ensures that healthcare professionals uphold the principles enshrined in the 6Cs framework – care, compassion, competence, communication, courage and commitment.¹¹⁰ A focus on diversity and inclusivity would also allow the SCN to empower patients to regain confidence and their QoL.¹¹¹

Other factors to consider when developing a fully integrated stoma care pathway are language barriers, learning difficulties, stoma siting requirements, issues around excretion and dietary needs. The adaptations to stoma care delivery are summarised by Cooper-Gamson (2017); the article expands on the need for cultural awareness in stoma care under the guidelines set out by the NMC and ASCN.¹⁰⁹

Learning disabilities and dementia may require modification of educational provisions to accommodate alternative teaching strategies and also dictate the inclusion of caregivers and family support in the overall process.¹¹²

A fully integrated stoma care pathway must incorporate diversity and inclusivity considerations for provision of appropriate care.

Theme 5: Psychological burden and psychosocial impact

The fifth theme, arguably the most important, is the psychological burden and impact of living with a stoma, and the current gaps that must be bridged when designing a fully integrated stoma care pathway.

Living with a stoma negatively affects overall QoL.¹¹³⁻¹¹⁶ The presence of a stoma can be associated with a variety of complex problems including altered body image, stool or urine leakage, social isolation, stoma-related dermatitis, sexual dysfunction, psychological distress and perceived loss of control.¹¹³⁻¹¹⁵ Changes in body image can lead to feelings of mourning for altered or lost body parts; for some, these psychological effects can be greater than the physical effects.¹¹⁷

The proportion of people living with a stoma who experience clinically significant post-operative psychological symptoms may be as high as 20%, ^{115,118} and anxiety and depression are predominant areas of concern. The level of the patient's technical expertise in stoma management is a strong indicator of their emotional, social and sexual rehabilitation.¹¹⁷ Moreover, psychological symptoms are more likely to occur when patients experience stoma-related complications.¹¹⁴

Factors such as gender, age and time since treatment may affect stoma-specific QoL; however, the existing literature is inconclusive about this effect.¹¹⁹ Women appear to experience a lower QoL versus

men; this is in part related to changes in body image, rejection sensitivity and inability to carry out household tasks.¹²⁰ Ageing is also a significant factor affecting people living with a stoma, as elderly patients face greater constraints in terms of physical ability, while younger patients are predominantly concerned with emotional issues and future economic perspectives.¹²⁰

In England, people living with a stoma have reported inconsistent access to counselling, a need for improved signposting to peer support, and feelings of abandonment (possibly associated with the absence of pre-operative information/post-surgery follow-up).¹⁴

While a system-wide reform and revision of services is needed,^{117,121} the ability of healthcare professionals to recognise patient coping mechanisms predicts the success of interventions as the stoma experience is highly individualistic.¹²²

People living with a stoma are at risk of experiencing perceived stigma (reflecting the individual's belief about the attitudes of others).¹²³ Interventions aimed at improving patient education, reducing economic burden and strengthening social support were noted as means to improve the living conditions of IBD-related stoma patients.¹²⁴

A review of several studies concluded that intensive follow-up by monthly review was of greater benefit than ad hoc SCN-initiated standard care to help people adjust to life with a stoma.¹²⁵ Results from the Dialogue Study also suggested that regular contact with the stoma specialist nurse improved HRQoL.⁺⁺¹²⁶

SCNs are registered graduate nurses with specialist skills, expertise, education and training in stoma care, who can provide physical and emotional support for the patient and family, coordinate care services and inform and advise patients.¹²² Psychological and psychosocial care are currently inadequately provided but must be incorporated into a fully integrated stoma care pathway. Peer and web-based support are both useful interventions that could be included.

Peer support

Talking to another person who has undergone bowel or bladder diversion can help patients accept changes in their body image and make the necessary physical and emotional adjustments to their stoma.¹⁰⁰ People already living with a stoma can share experiences and provide practical and emotional support that contributes to improved QoL and emotional balance for those with a new stoma.¹²⁷

Investigation of QoL for patients and subsequent development of the stoma management programme by a team of multi-disciplinary researchers identified peer-to-peer support and education in tandem with stoma nurse facilitation as key. This is particularly relevant in settings where cultural beliefs around body waste present a barrier to accepting stoma adaptations to function.^{65,128} People living with a stoma who participate in a support group tend to function at a higher level and experience a sense of belonging, reducing their feelings of otherness.^{129,130}

Web-based support

Support groups are one of the most effective ways to meet social support needs, positively affecting individuals and improving their QoL.^{127,128} An analysis of free web-based patient support resources

⁺⁺ North American subset (n=743 people living with a stoma) of an open-label, noncomparative, multicentre study in >3000 people living with a stoma and >500 nurses in 18 countries.¹²⁶

designed for those who have recently undergone stoma surgery found that online resources that provide educational content and self-management training for people with stomas are a practical way to supplement patient education after surgery, for adults of all ages.¹³¹ This reflects a growing trend of older adults using the Internet as a source of health information.^{132,133} Indeed, some patients with a stoma prefer to find their own information on the internet.¹³⁴

Sleep

According to studies, sleep-related problems affect 30-50% of individuals living with an ileostomy, colostomy or urostomy.^{135,136} The causes can vary, with individuals expressing concerns about how to manage their stoma while sleeping.^{‡‡136,137} Participants in a study by Kara and Aslan (2017) reported difficulty sleeping on their first day home post-operation due to fear of bursting or leaking from their pouching system.^{§§138} In another study of people who had been living with a stoma for at least five years, individuals reported problems such as difficulty falling asleep or not getting enough sleep, as well as avoidance of sleeping in certain positions due to fear of leakage.^{***139-141} In a qualitative study of 169 individuals with stomas, they reported anxiety about spending the night away from home, including fear of disturbing others due to gas emissions and fear of leakage.^{141,142}

Sleep health is described as a sleep–wake pattern that supports overall wellbeing and is influenced by individual, social and environmental factors.¹⁴³ Poor sleep quality can lead to physical, cognitive and emotional issues, and accidents and difficulties in professional and daily life. People with stomas who have poor sleep quality also report decreased HRQoL and experience professional and daily life incompatibilities.⁺⁺⁺¹⁴⁴ While some studies evaluating the QoL of individuals with stomas and addressing sleep problems have been published, studies specifically targeting stoma-related sleep problems or quality are limited.^{136-139,145}

One recent study which did investigate sleep problems and sleep quality among individuals with intestinal stomas was conducted from September 2018 to September 2019 at three university hospitals in Ankara, Turkey. Of the 222 involved, 52.3% reported current sleep problems, 59.5% reported that their stoma affected their sleep, and 64% had problems at night due to their stomas. Sleep quality was assessed by a researcher-designed instrument measuring the descriptive characteristics of patients with a stoma, the Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQI), and the Epworth Sleepiness Scale (ESS). The results showed that the mean PSQI score was above 5 (13.42, SD: 3.01), indicating poor sleep quality, and the mean ESS score was 7.54 (SD: 6.37), indicating daytime sleepiness. The mean PSQI scores for individuals with ileostomies and temporary stomas were significantly higher, indicating worse sleep quality compared to those with other types of stomas.¹⁴⁶

^{‡‡} A descriptive pilot study in people who had had stoma surgery within the last 30 months. 34 of 43 surveys returned were analysed to identify stoma-related difficulties experienced after discharge from hospital, who they sought help from, and if the advice was perceived as helpful.¹³⁶

^{§§} A qualitative phenomenological study in 18 people. Interviews were guided by a semi-structured 8-part questionnaire and aimed to find out patients' experiences of their first day at home after stoma surgery.¹³⁸ *** A secondary analysis of data collected in the Health-related Quality of Life in Long-Term Colorectal Cancer

Survivors Study (n=679) from the subgroup of people living with a stoma (n=286).^{139,140}

⁺⁺⁺ A qualitative study in 14 people who had been living with a stoma for at least 6 months. Data on quality of life were gathered by semi-structured interviews.¹⁴⁴

The authors suggest the need for further research and the development of methods to improve sleep quality for individuals with stomas. Possible interventions include keeping the pouch flush with the skin, wearing a support garment, reducing oral intake before bedtime, setting an alarm to empty the pouch, reducing leaks, exploring alternative sleeping positions, and practicing relaxation techniques to reduce anxiety.¹⁴⁶ These strategies should be a component of post-operative patient education and incorporated into a fully integrated stoma care pathway.

Theme 6: Increase in digital access

The use of digital technology such as smartphones, computers, tablets and smartwatches, linked to digital applications, is now part of everyday life, including healthcare.¹⁴⁷

Changes in response to COVID-19 and digital transformation programmes

The COVID-19 pandemic prompted increased investment and speed of improvements in digital technology to enhance communication with patients and care teams, provided personal development opportunities, and improved training and education.¹⁴⁷⁻¹⁵⁰ The digital transformation programmes were used as exemplars and the dissemination of learning was significantly widened.

Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust had previously implemented a recognised pathway of stoma care based on the four phases identified by Davenport (2014).^{69,151} During the pandemic, many in-person appointments were switched to 30-minute telephone appointments. A patient experience survey was carried out to determine the future of the service and identify potential adaptations to the pathway.^{###151} Results showed that 96% of respondents strongly agreed or agreed that their appointment started on time and 97% felt that the allocated interval was adequate. Operational benefits included allowing the clinical nurse specialists to work from home (important during the pandemic) and extended hours to carry out the telephone clinics, with no interruptions. Some patients appreciated not having to go to hospital during the pandemic. However, it was more difficult to assess stoma complications; some patients would have preferred a mix of telephone and face-to-face appointments. It was felt that non-verbal cues were missed when assessing psychological issues and how a patient might be feeling.¹⁵¹ It is therefore evident that a fully-integrated stoma care pathway needs to be flexible to adjust to patient preferences.¹⁵¹

Indeed, D'Antonio et al. (2020) reported that although telemedicine (implemented during the Covid-19 pandemic) was not suitable for all patients or all medical scenarios, it can be effective in people who live a distance from the hospital.^{§§§152} Some issues necessitate face-to-face appointments or hospital admission.¹⁵² This discerning use of telemedicine was echoed in conclusions drawn in the tertiary care setting by the University College London Hospitals referral centre. Before the pandemic, patients would travel a considerable distance to see their colorectal surgical team for follow-up appointments. But even after the pandemic, many patients actively chose to continue with video or telephone appointments. Digital submissions of the stoma site followed by a structured telephone/video assessment enabled solutions to be reached without the need for a home visit or a journey to the clinic.¹⁵²

⁺⁺⁺ 72 of 160 eligible people living with a stoma returned answers to the patient experience survey.¹⁵¹ ^{§§§} A retrospective analysis of 17 (of 23 eligible) patients with colostomy or ileostomy, whose primary reason for consultation could be completely solved virtually or if in-person/on-site services were expected to be reduced.¹⁵²

However, a Norwegian study found that although teleconsultation follow-up by SCNs decreased the readmission rate and burden of travel, it did not improve the QoL of patients.^{****154}

In brief, telephone follow-ups are convenient and cost-saving, but they cannot show the local status of the stoma. Outpatient follow-ups can provide post-discharge care, but may not address all the patient's psychological and informational needs.¹⁵² In the context of a fully integrated stoma care pathway, using telemedicine may provide valid support for patients with a stoma in the future and should be considered where appropriate.

Mobile applications

Smartphones offer the opportunity for a home healthcare service platform that can be used in stoma care, as demonstrated by a project in South Korea.¹⁵⁵ An application (app) for the patient allows them to get immediate information and advice on physical and psychological wellbeing (stoma management, diet, physical activity; management of fatigue, anxiety and depression, and guidance on self-management) and provides links to support groups. The app also allows patients to upload stoma pictures, details of stoma and skin complications, and information about their stoma bag cycle. The data are monitored by the clinicians via a web-based function, giving them a comprehensive overview of the patient's current condition and allowing them to identify issues that will need a face-to-face appointment. The creators expect to continue developing patient-oriented functions for the app and hope that these will bring improvements in QoL for the patients.¹⁵⁵

Theme 7: Urostomy

A systematic review of nursing care for improving self-efficacy and HRQoL in patients with a urostomy revealed that this is a neglected demographic despite urostomy being one of only three types of stoma.^{156,157} HRQoL was lower in this group compared to population norms, and factors such as age, employment, and living status were identified as contributors. Preoperative education was found to be important for meeting psychological needs, while the postoperative nursing intervention improved self-efficacy and HRQoL, particularly when there was continued nurse-patient interaction.¹⁵⁷⁻¹⁶¹ The review identified three major essential components for designing a comprehensive nurse-led education programme:¹⁵⁷

- 1. Stoma education: self-care skills, preventive measures
- 2. Psychological counselling: cancer diagnosis, body image, sexual problems
- 3. Consideration of patient factors: age, employment, living status

Some vulnerable patients may need special attention with tailored interventions.¹⁶²⁻¹⁶⁴ For example, older participants may have a better acceptance of their condition, but have difficulty with dexterity, impacting their independence in self-care.^{162,164} Previously employed patients experience greater challenges in adjusting to their new lives versus those without prior employment and may require additional psychological support.¹⁶² Living status (living alone, with a spouse, or with a spouse and children) has also been shown to impact the QoL outcomes.^{162,163} Finally, interventions should include primary carers, taking

^{****} A randomised clinical trial of telemedicine for postoperative follow-up of people with a new stoma (STOMPA trial). 110 patients received follow-up either by teleconsultation or in hospital.¹⁵⁴

into account their psycho-emotional wellbeing, which may affect the global health status and QoL of the patient.¹⁶⁵

A consensus view from people living with a stoma: calls to action for improved care

A panel of 12 people with a stoma, plus one carer, identified via Colostomy UK, the Ileostomy and Internal Pouch Association, and the Urostomy Association, were invited to discuss a set of researchbased statements and establish a consensus on calls to action around the problems faced by people with a stoma, with a particular emphasis on the issue of leakage. The results support the conclusions described in this rapid assessment of evidence. The project was funded by Coloplast UK.¹⁶⁶

The calls to action

Healthcare provision

- The delivery of individualised and holistic care is fundamental for people living with a stoma
- Positive education is needed throughout the healthcare service to understand how stomas affect people
- To reduce the impact of leakage and its complications and improve quality of life, healthcare professionals need to have access to information regarding product innovations. This will enable them to provide the best holistic care for people with a stoma
- Stoma care nurses' lifelong support and engagement is important to reduce leakage. Access to this specialist support should be consistent across the country
- Education covering the proper use of stoma appliances, lifestyle and mental health is important. Access to stoma care nurses is essential to receive this service
- People with a stoma should be offered an annual review that includes mental health, skin health, product choice, routines and self-care
- Primary care providers should not change stoma prescriptions without consultation with the person with a stoma
- People with a stoma should be offered care before and after surgery, and provided with ongoing lifelong support
- To reduce the impact of skin issues, people with a stoma need access to dermatology advice
- Psychological support is as important as physical healing: people with a stoma need access to mental health support.

Product

• Improve information for people with a stoma to understand products and innovations available.

Support

• Peer support saves lives. People with a stoma may benefit from engagement with others who have a stoma.

Daily life

- A stoma is a hidden condition; disabled toilet facilities should therefore be clean, spacious and accessible
- Employers need to be aware of and educated on how to support people with a stoma.

Section 3: Case studies for informing future recommendations

This section presents case studies illustrating practical solutions that could be applied to the challenges of stoma care. They are aligned to four thematic pillars: 1) Quality of care, 2) Costs, 3) Patient experience and health equity, and 4) Efficient improvements in clinical outcomes.

Central components of an accredited pathway

The 2021 ASCN UK Standards provide flexible and professional guidance for SCNs across a range of clinical contexts and patient populations, and are particularly relevant at a time when decision-making is becoming more local and regional and there remain disparities in the provision and funding of services across the UK.⁵

ASCN used the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) guideline framework to create seven Quality Statements describing the structure, process and outcome of stoma care. This list should be considered the core framework of a structured pathway:⁵

- Referral for potential/actual planned stoma formation Patient/carer is referred to a specialist stoma care nursing service promptly to ensure adequate time for pre-operative information to be delivered
- 2. Pre-operative preparation for potential/acute stoma formation Patient/carer is provided with relevant information and the stoma site is correctly selected by a registered nurse with a defined level of competency
- Post-operative stoma care management (practical)
 Patient is assessed by a nurse and an individualised stoma care plan formulated
- Post-operative stoma care management (physical)
 Patient is assessed by a nurse and an individualised stoma care plan is formulated
- 5. Preparation for discharge from the hospital
- **6.** Short-term specialist SCN support for the patient for up to three months Patient receives equitable access and continuity of care from the nurse after discharge
- Long-term/lifetime specialist SCN support
 Patient living with a stoma receives continued care and access to an SCN

An RCN-accredited clinical pathway for stoma care

In May 2014, the Royal College of Nursing (RCN) accredited a clinical pathway proposed by a specialist working group who considered their own working practices, and reviewed literature relating to follow-up care. The pathway has four phases: pre-operative, in the hospital, returning home and life with a stoma.⁶⁹ It provides clear anticipated care in an appropriate time-frame, agreed by the multidisciplinary teams to ensure optimum and standardised support is given to all patients. It was implemented in five pilot sites in 2013: a subsequent audit of 1027 visits showed that the early intervention of an SCN provided sufficient advice and support to prevent the patient from needing to consult other health professionals (saving 83 GP visits) or access NHS services (avoiding 185 outpatient attendances and 51 accident and emergency [A&E] attendances), thereby delivering cost savings for stoma-related issues.⁶⁹



The real-world outcomes of this pathway align with the four thematic pillars as follows:⁶⁹

(1) Quality of care and (4) Efficient improvements in clinical outcomes: 94% of patients reported that they did not see their GP or attend an accident and emergency department for a stoma-related issue within 30 days of discharge and 98% of patients found the home visits helpful.

(2) Costs: prescription amendments in the accessories segment generated an 8% reduction of the total stoma care spend in one audit undertaken of a group of 21 patients in one GP practice. In another group of 266 patients, cost savings through responsible prescribing were:⁶⁹

- Colostomy (110 patients, three bags per day) £11,548/£105 per patient
- Urostomy (50 patients, three–four per week) £2090/£42 per patient
- Ileostomy (106 patients, one bag per day) £4852/£46 per patient (per patient cost based on drug tariff pricing)

(3) Patient experience and health equity: 95% of patients said the pathway provided a valuable service, 97% of patients said their SCN provided helpful advice and 98% of patients found the support helpful after discharge.⁶⁹

The report stressed the role of the SCN and the need to provide patients with support and advice, particularly throughout the first year of their life with a stoma. Proactive support and advice were found

to be more beneficial than reactive treatment, and in the context of stoma care may result in less severe PSCs. Any structured follow-up for patients offered by the stoma care pathway is thought to reduce costs relating to stoma care management in the community.⁶⁹

This pathway was introduced nine years ago; now it is time to incorporate new solutions that reflect the most recent understanding of unmet needs. New insights can also be gained from examining care pathways involving specialist nursing in other domains. For example, the overlap between stoma and IBD patient cohorts means that the IBD Standards and their implementation in practice is a good model for the components of a fully integrated stoma care pathway

Learning from IBD

Launched in 2019, the 59 statements of the IBD Standards say what high-quality care should look like at every point of a patient's journey, set out how an IBD service should be organised and managed to deliver this, and align with the new BSG guidelines. Every IBD service in the UK should work to meet them.

IBD UK developed a UK-wide benchmarking tool to assess how the quality real-world care matched up to the IBD Standards, looking at hospitals' workforce provision and perception of the care they deliver, and measuring patients' views of the care they receive. The results were published in 2022.^{167,168}

In total, 166 adult and paediatric IBD services (72% of services nationally) completed the self-assessment, and survey data were collected from 10,222 patients. Communication, shared decision-making, and provision of information were cited as essential aspects of care. Problems included poor quality of diagnosis (reflecting long waiting times, slow referral to dietetics, and other disease complications in those newly diagnosed with IBD). The report gave some examples of quality improvement initiatives in five areas of IBD care, some of which are relevant to stoma care:^{167,168}

- Diagnosis:
 - Ensure that services are well resourced to enable diagnosis and treatment within the time frames set out in the IBD Standards
- Information
 - Provide personalised care plans tailored to patients' life goals and detailing available support and individualised actions in event of flares
 - Promote supported self-management for stable patients by reducing routine appointments, while offering more drop-in flare clinics and access to telephone advice
 - o Regularly review and monitor IBD patients in ways that meet their individual needs
- Faster access to specialist advice and treatment:
 - Everyone with IBD should have a plan detailing steps to take in case of a flare, and have a response from an IBD advice line by the end of the next working day
 - Ensure rapid access to clinics and prompt access to investigations in every service, supported by flare pathways agreed between primary, secondary and emergency care
 - Have a clear process for admission to a specialist gastroenterology or colorectal ward in every IBD service. IBD nurse specialist job plans should include time for inpatient visits
 - o Prioritise surgery, as delays result in significant risk to patients

- Expand specialist nurses and clerical support teams to improve telephone/email advice lines
- Increase access to surgeons and consultant physicians and increase specialist IBD clinic provision
- Leadership and regular meetings of a multidisciplinary team:
 - Ensure appropriate resourcing to meet staffing requirements for the whole IBD team; have regular meetings of the multidisciplinary team, supported by an administrator
 - Establish pathways to deliver coordinated care across specialities (joint medical or surgical clinics), between adult and paediatric services and between primary and secondary care

The report highlights that the current model of IBD care is largely reactive, leading to a high number of emergency admissions. Focusing on a proactive and personalised approach to care from diagnosis onwards should lead to improved outcomes and QoL. This can be done by equipping patients with the skills, information and confidence needed to self-manage effectively and become active participants in their own care. ^{167,168}

This conclusion aligns with the recommendation of proactive rather than reactive support in stoma care outlined by Davenport (2014)⁶⁹ and supports the self-care agenda promoted by the NHS Long-Term Plan.¹⁶⁹ Moreover, the report demonstrates that, while multidisciplinary care is essential, the IBD nurse specialist is pivotal in coordinating care, supporting patient education and involvement, and driving the development of the IBD service.¹⁶⁸ The problem of under-resourced care teams is a growing nationwide issue that urgently requires addressing, as does the under-utilisation of it and data systems. If under-resourcing and under-utilisation issues are effectively addressed, they provide a significant means of transformation in IBD care.¹⁶⁸ Since SCNs perform a similar function to IBD nurses, these findings can be applied when designing a comprehensive stoma care pathway.

The quality improvements outlined here are highly applicable in the context of stoma care owing to the proportion of patients with IBD who require surgery. An investigation found the incidence of stoma in patients with Crohn's disease was 2.5%, and stomas were found to be more common in elderly-onset compared with a paediatric-onset disease, with a 5-year cumulative incidence of 3.6% vs 1.3%, respectively.¹⁷⁰ Although people with IBD represent a small proportion of stoma patients, there is considerable overlap between the unmet needs in IBD and stoma care, and the quality improvements cited in the IBD benchmarking assessment present solutions relevant to both.

Real-world case studies: examples from IBD

How can these changes be made in real-world settings? The national report for gastroenterology, *Getting It Right First Time* (2021), provides practical solutions for managing the demand for services and maximising the available capacity of services in England, with a special focus on overcoming challenges posed by the COVID-19 pandemic, such as the accumulation of patients waiting for endoscopic procedures and gastroenterology clinic appointments.¹⁷¹ The report includes several case studies that, although not specifically addressing stoma care, show how practical solutions can be put into action to address gaps in the regional stoma care pathways across the four pillars (Quality of care, Costs, Patient experience and health equity and Efficient improvements in clinical outcomes).

Case study: St Helens and Knowsley Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust

Aligns to Quality statement one of the ASCN UK Standards: Referral for potential/actual stoma formation⁵

The trust had an existing referral management system that vetted all clinic referrals and extended it to include consultant vetting. The triage process was further expanded to include a Virtual Referral Triage Clinic each day during the COVID-19 pandemic. This reduced the need for hospital appointments and follow-ups, freeing up clinic capacity. The team found that most patients could be managed remotely with advice and guidance from GPs, or go direct to the testing stage. Patients could then either be seen in the clinic for a single appointment, redirected to the relevant chronic disease clinic, or discharged without clinical review needed. The trust also reduced the need for gastroenterology follow-up appointments after patient investigations by initiating investigations at the first consultation, along with a care plan, notifying patients if follow-up was not required, and directing patients who needed long-term follow-up to nurse-led chronic disease clinics.¹⁷¹

Results:171

(2) Costs: the trust intended to audit the Virtual Referral Triage Clinic to determine the absolute benefits, and to ensure the system could be appropriately funded to allow it to be sustainable. There was the possibility that the system could eliminate the need for their commissioned referral management system

(3) Patient experience and health equity: more patients were seen in the most appropriate setting and the Virtual Triage Clinic reduced the need for gastroenterology follow-up appointments: 51% of outpatients were discharged after their first clinic appointment (double the national average according to hospital episode statistics [HES] 2017/2018 data)

(4) Efficient improvements in clinical outcomes: clinic capacity increased

Case study: Oxford University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust

Aligns to Quality statement three of the ASCN UK Standards: Post-operative stoma care management⁵

The Oxford trust significantly reduced emergency admissions with a range of measures that increased responsiveness to patient needs and built resilience within the unit, including:¹⁷¹

- Encouraging senior clinicians and consultants to develop a special interest in IBD, supported by advanced training
- Having an email advice service for patients, managed by specialist nurses
- Monitoring patient progress through validated questionnaires on symptoms (daily), QoL (twoweekly) and outcomes (quarterly)
- Weekly multidisciplinary team meetings
- Audited performance targets
- Integrating and co-locating clinical and research teams

Results:171

(1) Quality of care, (3) Patient experience and health equity and (4) Efficient improvements in clinical outcomes: A&E admission rates for IBD at Oxford have fallen to half the England average, with additional improvements on key indicators such as length of stay.

Case study: East Sussex Healthcare NHS Trust: Using a nurse-led approach

Aligns to Quality statements six and seven of the ASCN UK Standards: Short-term specialist SCN support for the patient for up to three months; long-term/lifetime specialist SCN support⁵

In response to long waiting lists for consultant-led outpatient care, in 2011 the trust began delivering nurse-led IBD clinics. At the start, there was one clinic per week at each of its two main sites in Eastbourne and Hastings; it has since grown to seven face-to-face and two telephone clinics across the trust each week. The result was reduced consultant waiting lists, freeing up capacity and enabling patients to be seen more rapidly when their condition flared. Consultants were initially reluctant to refer their patients but have now embraced the clinics after seeing the benefits for patients and overall capacity. This nurse-led model has recently been extended to endoscopy clinics, with four per week established across the trust.¹⁷¹

Results:171

(1) Quality of care: waiting lists for outpatient care have been significantly reduced

(3) Patient experience and health equity: patients have rapid access to clinics in line with IBD Standards and nurses can work more closely with patients, supporting them and explaining their diagnoses

(4) Efficient improvements in clinical outcomes: over 20% of all outpatient clinics in gastroenterology at the East Sussex trust are nurse-led versus the average of 5.1% in England (according to the HES 2017/2018 data)

Case study: Milton Keynes University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust: Managing patient follow-up appointments

Aligns to Quality statements six and seven of the ASCN UK Standards: Short-term specialist SCN support for the patient for up to three months; long-term/lifetime specialist SCN support⁵

The Milton Keynes University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust audited their gastroenterology clinic lists with the aims of seeing the right patients at the right time, reducing unnecessary follow-up visits to the hospital and increasing the clinic's capacity. The team removed duplicate requests and other administrative errors, then developed clinical validation criteria to identify patients who could be discharged. To reduce Did Not Attend (DNA) rates, patients are now given sufficient advance notice of appointments to allow them to reschedule in good time, and a text reminder service is provided.¹⁷¹

Results:171

(3) Patient experience and health equity and (4) Efficient improvements in clinical outcomes: gastroenterology clinic DNA rates are now 5%, helping to make the best use of available capacity. Duplicate requests have been eliminated and clinical validation enabled discharge of up to 30% of patients on the outpatient waiting list.

Real-world case studies: stoma care

A survey of the literature returned a single case study that analysed how changes in the regional process helped organisations provide cost-effective and sustainable community stoma support services that met patients' ongoing needs. NHS England commissioned an implementation guide as part of its national Quality, Innovation, Productivity and Prevention programme to support regions to work collaboratively and deliver system-wide efficiencies 'at-scale'. This work was centred on the Cheshire and Merseyside region to improve the management of patients' ongoing stoma care and prescribing needs while reducing spend on stoma appliances.¹⁵

Case study: Cheshire & Merseyside Health & Care Partnership

Aligns to Quality statements three, six and seven of the ASCN UK Standards: Post-operative stoma care management, short-term specialist SCN support up to three months and long-term/lifetime specialist SCN support⁵

The Merseyside Health & Care Partnership designed a pathway to improve management of patients' ongoing stoma care and prescribing needs, while reducing spend on stoma appliances (Other prescription services are available in the UK). A new Stoma Support Service model was designed to address these issues and to provide a responsive experience for patients needing products, advice on stoma support and prescriptions. It incorporated acute clinical care, coordination of care, prescribing, authorising, dispensing and patient registration. Particular problems tackled were sponsored stoma nurses, GP familiarity with stoma care products and DACs ordering on patients' behalf.¹⁵

Three variations of the model offer flexibility in how services are delivered:¹⁵

(1) Stoma Prescribing Hub: patients contact the hub monthly to order products. No changes made to current acute and community stoma nurse provision

(2) Community Stoma Support Service: the Stoma Prescribing Hub plus a community nursing workforce to ensure Stoma Support Service users receive annual clinical reviews

(3) Seamless Stoma Support Service: the Community Stoma Support Service plus additional acute stoma nurses to provide a seamless Stoma Support Service spanning primary and secondary care

In those ICBs where this SPECIFIC model of specialist community appliance prescribing has been implemented, the following significant benefits have been achieved:

(1) Quality of care & (3) Patient experience and health equity: monthly interactions with the Prescribing Hub address any issues that may arise, reducing the need for costly urgent care. Stoma nurse knowledge means that patients are provided with the most suitable products, thereby reducing waste and avoiding potentially inappropriate prescriptions

(2) Costs: to reduce costs, the prescribing decisions involve clinical specialists, follow guidelines and formularies and ensure appropriate quantities are dispensed to reduce spending on unsuitable products and waste

(4) Efficient improvements in clinical outcomes: delivering care more efficiently. Consolidating prescription management across the region within a single hub reduces variation in service. By working in an effective and scalable way, the model reduces GP and pharmacy time and improves the quality of care and convenience. Establishing a standardised formulary shifts the focus away from the secondary care teams and product manufacturers driving product initiation, to ensuring that prescribed products not only meet the needs of patients but are also cost-effective.

Looking beyond a fully-integrated stoma care pathway: profiling patients for personalisation

The formation of a stoma can negatively affect QoL. Although several factors may be involved, most research treats patients with a stoma as a largely homogeneous group. A recent pioneering study of 1419 participants has challenged this assumption, using latent profile analysis (LPA) to identify four distinct profiles of people with a stoma, based on their QoL, physical activity levels, and clinical and demographic characteristics:¹⁷²

- 1. 'Consistently good QoL' (62.8%): higher than average QoL scores across all subscales; generally older than patients in the other groups
- 2. 'Some QoL concerns' (13.0%): moderate QoL concerns across all subscales
- **3.** 'Low QoL' (12.8%): less likely to have had their stoma for longer than 2 years; less physically active; more likely to have a hernia or bulge
- 4. 'Financial concerns' (11.5%): financial concerns; high scores on work/social function and sexuality/body image

LPA is useful for the multidimensional nature of QoL by showing whether there are distinct groups of people with similar patterns of QoL response. LPA has been previously used to indicate the subpopulations who may benefit from specific interventions in the field of diet, sexual health,¹⁷³ alcohol¹⁷⁴ and drug problems, hypertension,¹⁷⁵ and older adults.¹⁷⁶ For example, in the study of older adults, classification into the groups stable, physical disability, emotional disability and crisis enabled proposal of different programmes for each, such as functional mobility and balance training, or individualised mental health assistance.¹⁷⁶ Similarly, using LPA in stoma patients could help identify how to better tailor interventions to an existing stoma care pathway.

However, before such personalised interventions can be established, a fully integrated stoma care pathway must first be implemented on a national scale. It should be flexible to allow for organisational and individual differences. Variations in healthcare systems, medical resources and culture create disparities between institutions. Patient-specific factors, such as the unmet needs explored in the self-care agenda promoted by the NHS Long Term Plan, also play a role.¹⁶⁹

Section 4: Conclusion

The current literature shows the perspectives, experiences and unfulfilled needs of individuals with stomas in England, supporting the need for nationwide changes to stoma services. This review suggests that there is a significant variation in service provision both in hospitals and at home, highlighting ongoing inequality in health provision.

These findings provide a foundation for the design of future stoma care services that should be better at meeting the needs of people living with a stoma. The current research indicates that comprehensive and ongoing stoma care can lead to positive outcomes, particularly in improving the health and satisfaction of stoma patients.

The literature selected to support an identified hypothesis included published information across metaanalyses, interventional studies, case reports, implementation guidelines issued by regional facilities, survey results and reports commissioned or sponsored by several stakeholder companies, institutions and organisations.

The move to institutionalised learning for SCNs has improved the level of nurse education but has eroded the practical, hands-on elements of knowledge acquisition. There is a need for more high quality, tailored continuing professional development for SCNs.⁹ SCNs are valuable: SCN-led services rehabilitate patients while providing numerous cost-effective and cost-efficient benefits. This supports the argument that stoma care delivery should be led by an engaged, well-informed, expert SCN team that can deliver patient-centric care.^{9-11,14}

Strategic decisions about stoma patient management and delivery of care are increasingly taken locally and regionally.⁵ This has produced considerable variation in the UK in the provision and funding of services, and has impacted their delivery.^{5,14} This poses a considerable challenge when designing a fully integrated stoma care pathway suitable for national use.

The key unmet needs of people living with a stoma and their stoma care teams are varied, and affected by the regional and local pressures that impact funding and subsequent service decisions.¹⁴ Equitable access and continuity of care is considered the weakest link in community services, with a clear need for continuous care interventions that integrate patient-centeredness, evidence-based practice, multi-professional teamwork and a drive towards continuous quality improvement. There should be flexibility to cater to the varied needs of people living with a stoma, owing to significant variation in stoma care patients' preference for follow-up and service provision at home and hospital.¹⁴

Supported patient self-management is a commonly used approach to addressing the difficulties presented by long-term conditions and multimorbidity.¹⁷⁷ Healthcare systems need to adopt a holistic perspective that involves patients, practitioners, and service reorganisation.¹⁷⁸ Patient activation is key: patients with knowledge, skills and confidence in managing their own condition have better health outcomes and care experiences.⁴⁴ However, there are few evidence-based, systematic stoma care self-management programmes available. Positive early results of a recent telehealth-based OSMT programme for cancer survivors and their caregivers designed to improve patient activation, self-efficacy, and QoL in the adjustment to living with a stoma provide evidence of the programme's impact.⁴⁷ If activation is proven to be a useful concept for targeting of interventions, further research may be useful in identifying those patients who need activation, and may suggest ways of raising activation to improve outcomes.⁴⁴

For patients with a stoma, adjustment is considered through the lens of their reaction to the psychological, social, and sexual impact of the condition. Factors such as age, unemployment, low income, inability to care for the ostomy, not participating in support groups, and shame or worry about smells, have all been associated with a low level of adjustment.^{179,180} Patients who are better able to manage their self-care tasks have better adjustment and can take care of their stoma more efficiently, leading to improved QoL.¹⁸¹⁻¹⁸⁵

An important aspect of all chronic illness, including having a stoma, is self-care. Self-care ability is a complex skill that significantly influences a patient's adjustment and is central to rehabilitation following stoma creation. Studies have shown that good levels of self-care are positively correlated with general health status and QoL, and negatively correlated with pain, disability and costs. Adopting validated and specific indices to evaluate self-care in patients with a stoma will help healthcare professionals to recognise individuals' self-care abilities, provide focused health education interventions, and monitor changes in patient behaviour.¹⁸⁶ This information can then be used to evaluate the effective health policies and clinical services organisation.¹⁸⁷

Currently, there is no research examining the impact of PIFU on stoma care. Stoma care is currently led by SCNs, with guidelines providing evidence-based recommendations for delivering consistent and appropriate care.^{10,56} The guidelines position SCNs as being responsible for identifying and referring patients to other specialists as needed to address such issues as altered body image, social exclusion and anxiety.^{14,56} Some patients like routine follow-ups and others prefer annual reviews: PIFU can accommodate these varying needs, and a standard stoma care pathway should integrate patient preferences as and when appropriate.

A current challenge in clinical standards is the wide variation across the country in provision and funding of care, and support and follow-up.⁵ This impacts recovery, appliance and accessory product use, and ultimately patient QoL. PSCs is the most frequent outcome of inadequate care: over 80% of people living with a stoma are predicted to develop PSCs within 2 years of surgery.⁶⁰ The SCN should be included in the pre-operative care of patients in both elective and emergency surgery cases.⁷³ A patient registry of longitudinal data could provide the information needed to help elevate clinical standards by helping to understand the ongoing real-world patient experience.^{88,90} Moreover, a registry that allows participants to self-report could encourage participant engagement and facilitate a patient-centred focus in care provision.⁹⁰

Perhaps the most important of the current challenges of stoma care is the psychological burden and psychosocial impact of a stoma. ¹¹³⁻¹¹⁶ A strong indicator of emotional, social and sexual rehabilitation is the level of the patient's technical expertise in stoma management.⁹⁶ SCNs have the skills, expertise, education and training in stoma care to be able to provide physical and emotional support for the patient and family, coordinate care services and inform and advise patients.¹²² This could improve both clinical and practical issues, which in turn lead to positive patient outcomes.^{10,11} Alongside the SCN, peers can provide the practical and emotional support that contributes to improved QoL and emotional balance for those with a new stoma – thereby suggesting a role for digital-focused learning and community building for stoma patients.^{104,128-130}

An additional issue explored was the impact of a stoma on the sleep quality of patients. People with intestinal stomas experience poor sleep quality and excessive daytime sleepiness, which can negatively

affect their daily life and QoL.¹⁴⁷¹⁴⁶ The worst sleep quality was reported by women, people who work, people who have ileostomies or permanent stomas, and those whose sleep problems cause physical or psychological issues. Interventional methods such as wearing a support garment around the abdomen and reducing oral intake before sleeping may help. Addressing sleep issues should be included in a full integrated care pathway.

Digital health technology is becoming widespread. The COVID-19 pandemic increased the role of telephone clinics, which can save on time and travel costs for both healthcare professionals and patients. However, they cannot replace all face-to-face appointments. Instead, they should be considered as an extra option for accommodating patient preferences.¹⁵¹ Smartphone apps offer another option for improved monitoring and care of patients.¹⁵⁵ This flexibility should be included in a fully integrated stoma care pathway.

Although there is no national standard stoma care pathway, the RCN has an accredited pathway designed specifically for patient care in four stages (pre-operative, in hospital, returning home and life with a stoma).⁶⁹

Stoma care can learn from other areas. The IBD Standards of care, and pathways based on them, provide highly relevant case study examples of best practice.^{167,168} Key takeaways from gastroenterology include the need for:^{167,168}

- 1. Improvements in the diagnosis and provision of information
- 2. Personalised care and support for self-management
- 3. Faster access to specialist advice and treatment
- 4. Leadership and regular meetings of a multidisciplinary team

The case studies demonstrate how:¹⁷¹

- A nurse-led approach can increase consultant capacity and enhance patient care (East Sussex Healthcare NHS Trust)
- Validation of clinic lists increases clinic capacity and reduces DNAs (Milton Keynes University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust)
- Virtual triage can reduce outpatient appointments (St Helens and Knowsley Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust)
- Service improvements, including advanced training, email advice for patients and digital monitoring of symptoms and outcomes, can lower emergency admission rates (Oxford University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust)

In summary, there is a need for an informed, evidence-based approach to fully integrated stoma care delivery to improve patient outcomes and organisational goals in the areas of quality of care, costs, patient experience and efficiency.

Section 5: Considerations for a fully integrated stoma care pathway

- 1. SCNs should be the central figure in a care pathway for patients. SCNs produce quantitative costeffective and cost-efficient benefits and provide holistic care incorporating physical and psychological elements that cater for individual patient needs. SCNs provide patients with essential pre- and post-operative information. SCNs' expertise arises from a combination of formal education and experiential learning. ^{11,12,18}
- 2. There should be customised training in stoma care available for the continuing education of SCNs that is required for retaining registration with the NMC
- 3. To ensure that patients receive the appropriate care according to their needs and preferences, discharge should provide regular reviews and monitoring, taking into account the variation in patient experiences and preferences for home-based and hospital-based care^{14,172}
- 4. A comprehensive stoma care pathway should encompass different routes for the patient with a 'stable' stoma who seldom needs contact with the healthcare services (annual review), and the patient with an 'unstable' stoma who needs much more frequent and intensive follow-up (prompt and direct access to the right specialist care)
- Equitable access and continuity of care in a future standardised, fully integrated pathway should offer a variety of modalities for follow-up and consider patient-led branches – which is reflective of the new statutory guidance that mandates working in partnership with people and communities³⁸
- 6. Product decisions should ensure that the type and quantity of product supplied is in line with patients' needs. Strategic decisions about service delivery must increasingly be made at the local and regional levels for improved outcomes¹⁴
- 7. Patient activation is a highly important consideration in effective care management. There should be a balance between promoting independence, ensuring regular follow-up, and providing patients with flexible and patient-centred access to care, which may include options such as email or text messaging. The maintenance of skin health should be prioritised and there must be access to an SCN to manage any potential complications that may arise.¹⁴
- 8. Self-care by chronically ill patients, including stoma patients, facilitates improvements, helps adjustment to the new condition, increases feelings of empowerment, and reduces negative outcomes. Studies have shown that living with a stoma can negatively impact a patient's QoL, and healthcare professionals must consider this aspect.¹⁸⁶ To identify areas where self-care is lacking, healthcare professionals can use specific assessment tools and plan educational interventions to improve patients' ability to care for themselves. This can ultimately help to reduce negative impacts of living with a stoma and improve the overall QoL for patients¹⁸⁷
- 9. Among stoma-related complications, PSC and leakage incidence are a considerable burden on the individual and health systems; periodic check-ups and follow-up care with an SCN can address the need for long-term, supportive care for both patients and their families and produce considerable cost savings by preventing the need for more expensive treatment^{13,43}
- 10. People living with a stoma should receive accessible information at all stages of their care. This must meet their individual needs, as part of shared decision-making, and signpost to patient organisations for further information and wide-ranging support.^{14,128-130}

- 11. Patient empowerment, positive prognostic outcomes and reduced healthcare burden can be facilitated by multi-modal education that caters to cultural and demographic factors. Patient-informed product choice and selection help mitigate physical and psychological impacts and should be included
- 12. As well as system-wide reform and revision of services,^{117,121} improved access to web and peer support resources and nursing interventions are necessary, as these can help alleviate the negative effects of a stoma on HrQoL⁶⁴
- 13. The dynamic nature of stoma management should be factored into service delivery as reflected by the evidence that stoma care needs change during a patient's lifespan^{11,13,18,58}
- 14. Telemedicine may provide valid support for patients with a stoma in the future and should be considered where appropriate¹⁵¹⁻¹⁵³
- 15. Commissioners and managers should ensure appropriate resourcing to meet staffing requirements for the stoma team. There should be regular meetings of the stoma leadership team^{167,168}
- 16. A registry for stoma patients should be created. Case studies show that registries have the potential to improve or redesign stoma care, enhance patient inclusivity and engagement, and facilitate clinical practice and research, healthcare utilisation and product innovation⁸⁷⁻⁹⁰

Abbreviations

A&E, accident and emergency ASCN, Association of Stoma Care Nurses COVID-19, Coronavirus Disease 2019 CPP, Collaborative Procurement Partnership DAC, dispensing appliance contractors DNA, did not attend ENB, English National Board GP, general practitioner HES, hospital episode statistics HrQoL, health-related quality of life IBD, inflammatory bowel disease ICB, Integrated Care Board LPA, latent profile analysis NHS, National Health Service NICE, Health and Care Excellence NMC, Nursing and Midwifery Council OSMT, Ostomy Self-Management Training OSO, Observation Study of Ostomy Consumers PAM, Patient Activation Measure PIFU, patient-initiated follow-up PSC, peristomal skin complications QoL, quality of life RCN, Royal College of Nursing SCN, stoma care nurse UK, United Kingdom US, United States of America UOAR, United Ostomy Association Registry

References

- 1. NHS Digital. 2021. Hospital admitted patient care activity 2020-21. https://digital.nhs.uk/data-andinformation/publications/statistical/hospital-admitted-patient-care-activity (accessed May 2023).
- 2. Colostomy UK. 2021. Step up for stomas 2021. www.colostomyuk.org/launching-step-up-for-stomas/ (accessed May 2023).
- 3. Kettle, J. 2019. NHS East of England NHS collaborative procurement hub integrated care team. StoMap programme baseline report. www.eoecph.nhs.uk/stomap-baseline-report.htm (accessed May 2023).
- 4. Lawal AK, et al. BMC Medicine. 2016;14(35).
- ASCN UK. Stoma care nursing standards and audit tool for the newborn to elderly. 2021. https://ascnuk.com/_userfiles/pages/files/resources/ascn_uk_standards_2021.pdf (accessed May 2023).
- 6. WHO. WHO global strategy on people-centred and integrated health services. 2016 https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/155002 (accessed May 2023).
- 7. NHS Long-Term Plan. Chapter 2: More NHS action on prevention and health inequalities. Stronger NHS action on health inequalities. www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/online-version/chapter-2-more-nhs-action-on-prevention-and-health-inequalities/stronger-nhs-action-on-health-inequalities/ (accessed May 2023).
- 8. Black P. Holistic stoma care. London: Baillière Tindall; 2000.
- 9. Stronge B, Burch J. Gastrointest Nurs. 2019;17(8):26–31.
- 10. Virgin Elliston T, et al. Excellence in stoma care: the value of stoma care nurse specialists. 2019. www.coloplast.co.uk/Global/UK/Stoma/HCP/Excellence_in_Stoma_Care_Final.pdf (accessed May 2023).
- 11. Jones S. 2015 Value of a nurse-led stoma care clinic. Cwm Taf Health Board, Royal Glamorgan and Ysbyty Cwm Rhondda Hospitals. www.rcn.org.uk/-/media/Royal-College-Of-Nursing/Documents/Professional-Development/Research/Innovations/Burdetters-Case-Studies/Sheila-Jones-Case-Study.pdf (accessed May 2023).
- 12. Kemp K, et al. J Crohns Colitis 2018 ;12 :760–76.
- 13. Coloplast. 2010. High-impact actions for stoma care. High-impact action steering group. www.apollonursingresource.com/wp-content/uploads/2013/10/High_Impact_Actions_Booklet.pdf (accessed May 2023).
- 14. Bowles TM, et al. Br J Nurs. 2022;31(16):S4–S15.
- 15. NHS Commissioning Support. Delivering excellence in stoma care: A guide to implementation. https://medsopt.midlandsandlancashirecsu.nhs.uk/media/1058/aga_8653_nw-qipp-stoma-interactive-pdf_v8final.pdf (accessed May 2023).
- 16. Richbourg L, et al. J Wound Ostomy Continence Nurs. 2007;34(1):70–9.
- 17. Salvadalena GD. J Wound Ostomy Continence Nurs. 2013;40(4):400–06.
- 18. Malik T, et al. Ann R Coll Surg Engl. 2018;100(7):501–08.
- 19. Pittman J, et al. J Wound Ostomy Continence Nurs.2014;41(2):147–57.
- 20. Maydick-Youngberg D. Ostomy Wound Manage. 2017;63(5):10–23.
- 21. Department of Health. NHS procurement transformation programme: Future operating model handbook. 2017. wwwmedia.supplychain.nhs.uk/media/FOM_HANDBOOK-Oct-2017.pdf (accessed May 2023).
- 22. Collaborative Procurement Partnership. About: CPP is a service provider to NHS Supply Chain 2021. https://cpp.nhs.uk (accessed January 2023).
- 23. NHS South Sefton CCG and NHS Southport and Formby CCG. Clinical advisory group agenda. Available from: https://tinyurl.com/4jvdhjpu. (accessed January 2023).
- 24. Bidstats. NHS Southport & Formby CCG and NHS South Sefton CCG Sefton bladder & bowel prescription service. Available from: https://bidstats.uk/tenders/2022/W01/766378208 (accessed May 2023).
- 25. Willmington Healthcare. 2023. Looking ahead: a guide to working effectively with the NHS for suppliers in 2023 and beyond. https://wilmingtonhealthcare.com/looking-ahead-2023-and-beyond/ (accessed May 2023).
- 26. Williams J. Br J Nurs. 2012;21(13):786–94.
- 27. O'Flynn SK. Gastrointest Nurs. 2015;13(8):32–42.
- 28. O'Flynn SK. Br J Community Nurs. 2018;23(8):382–87.
- 29. Da Costa LP, et al. Biosci J. 2020;36:628–35.

- 30. Lenaerts E, et al. Drug Alcohol Depend. 2014;135:9–21.
- 31. Jin Y, et al. Asia Pac J Oncol Nurs. 2021;9(1):21–31.
- 32. Danielsen AK, et al. Colorectal Dis. 2013 ;15(6) :e276-e283.
- 33. Li XX, et al. Medicine. 2020;99:e19543.
- 34. Tabrizi FM, et al. Nurs Pract. 2020;34:221–33.
- 35. Zakeri MA, et al. J Res Nurs. 2020;25:54–65.
- 36. Murphy E, et al. Ir J Med Sci. 2012;181 S279–S279.
- 37. Roberts J, et al. Can J Aging-Revue Canad Du Vieillissement. 2000;19:106–26.
- 38. NHS England. Working in partnership with people and communities: statutory guidance. 2022. www.england.nhs.uk/publication/working-in-partnership-with-people-and-communities-statutory-guidance/ (accessed May 2023).
- Parliament UK. Health and care bill. Written evidence to the health and care bill submitted by Coloplast. Session 2021-22. https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm5802/cmpublic/HealthCare/memo/HCB38.htm (accessed May 2023).
- 40. NHS England's Quick Guide: Discharge to Assess. www.nhs.uk/nhsengland/keoghreview/documents/quick-guides/quick-guide-discharge-to-access.pdf (accessed May 2023).
- NHS. Module 1: PAM[®] implementation quick guide. www.england.nhs.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2018/04/patient-activation-measure-quick-guide.pdf. (accessed May 2023).
- 42. Baron R, Kenny D. J Pers Soc Psychol. 1986;51(6):1173-82.
- 43. Sacks R, et al. J Affect Disord. 2014;169:1–6.
- 44. Blakemore A, et al. BMC Health Serv Res. 2016;16(1):582.
- 45. Hibbard J, Gilburt H. Supporting people to manage their health: An introduction to patient activation. 2014. The King's Fund. 25-12-0016. www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/supporting-people-manage-their-health (accessed May 2023).
- 46. Sun V, et al. Contemp Clin Trials. 2018;64:167–72.
- 47. Grant M, et al. Support Care Cancer. 2022;30(2):1139–47.
- 48. Lorig KR, et al. Med Care. 1999;37(1):5–14.
- 49. Lorig KR, et al. Gerontologist.1984;24(5):455–7.
- 50. Lorig KR, et al. Arthritis Rheum. 1993;36(4):439–46.
- 51. Hibbard JH, et al. Health Serv Res. 2005;40(6 Pt 1):1918–30.
- 52. Hibbard JH, et al. Health Serv Res. 2004;39(4 Pt 1):1005–26.
- 53. Krouse RS, et al. Psychooncology. 2016;25(5):574–81.
- 54. NHS. 2022/23 priorities and operational planning guidance. www.england.nhs.uk/publication/2022-23-priorities-and-operational-planning-guidance/ (accessed May 2023).
- 55. NHS. 2022. Implementing patient initiated follow-up. www.england.nhs.uk/publication/implementing-patient-initiated-follow-up-guidance-for-local-health-and-care-systems/ (accessed May 2023).
- Virgin Elliston T, et al. The hidden value of this expert nursing role and service. 2019. www.coloplast.co.uk/Global/UK/Stoma/HCP/SCNS_The_hidden_value_of_this_expert_nursing_role.pdf. (accessed May 2023).
- 57. Anderson B, et al. Gastrointest Nurs. 2011;9(4):4–81.
- 58. Porrett T, et al. Gastrointest Nurs. 2011;9(4):19–23.
- 59. Sica J. Gastrointest Nurs. 2018;16:20–2.
- 60. LeBlanc K, et al. J Wound Ostomy Continence Nurs. 2019;46(2):125–36.
- 61. Colwell JC, et al. J Wound Ostomy Continence Nurs. 2019;46(6):497–504.
- 62. Taneja C, et al. J Wound Ostomy Continence Nurs. 2017;44(4):350–57.
- 63. Taneja C, et al. J Wound Ostomy Continence Nurs. 2019;46(2):143–49.
- 64. Rolls N, et al. Utilities associated with stoma-related complications: peristomal skin complications and leakages. J Med Econ. 2022;25(1):1005–14.
- 65. Sun V, et al. J Wound Ostomy Continence Nurs. 2013;40(1):61–72.
- 66. Annels M. J Wound Ostomy Continence Nurs. 2006;33(5):518–24.
- 67. Torquato Lopes AP, Decesaro M. Ostomy Wound Manage. 2014;60(10):34–42.
- 68. McGrath A. Br J Nurs. 2017;26(5):S30–S31.
- 69. Davenport R. Br J Nurs. 2014;23(22):1774–80.

- 70. Murken D, Bleier J. Clin Colon Rectal Surg. 2019;32(3):176–82.
- 71. Salvadalena G, et al. J Wound Ostomy Continence Nurs. 2020 ;47(4) :357–63.
- 72. Nastro P, et al. 2010; Br J Surg. 2010;97(12):1885-9.
- 73. Cronin E. Gastrointest Nurs. 2014;2(3):12-9.
- 74. Watson AJ, et al. Br J Community Nurs. 2013;18(3):111–6.
- 75. Kwiatt M, Kawata M. Clin Colon Rectal Surg. 2013 ;26(2) :112–21.
- 76. ^a Hansen AS, et al. WCET Journal 2022;42(4):14–30.
- ^b Leblanc, K et a.l Journal of Wound Ostomy and Continence Nursing 46(2):125-136
- 77. Gómez del Rio N. Los Cuidados de Enfermería en el Impacto Psicológico del Paciente Ostomizado. www.index-f.com/ene/7/7304.php (accessed February 2023).
- 78. Sutsunbuloglu E, Vural F. Sex Disabil. 2018;36(4):349–61.
- 79. Bahayi K, et al. Turkish J Colorectal Dis. 2018;28(2):69-75.
- 80. García-Rodríguez MT, et al. Healthcare (Basel). 2021;9(5):520.
- 81. Park ER, et al. Cancer J. 2009;15:74–7.
- 82. Albaugh JA, et al. Clin Colon Rectal. Surg. 2017;30:201–6.
- 83. González Gómez L. Npunto. 2020;3:35–55.
- Gliklich RE, et al. Registries for evaluating patient outcomes: A user's guide [Internet]. 3rd ed. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (US); 2014.
- 85. Vasen, Bülow; Leeds Castle Polyposis Group. Colorectal Dis. 1999;1(4):214–21.
- Federation of People with Incontinence and an Ostomy Association. FAIS Onlus. Bilancio Sociale Fais 2017. www.fais.info/wp-content/uploads/2018/05/BS_2017_rev2pdf.pdf (accessed May 2023).
- 87. Ocagli H, et al. Wound Manag Prev. 2021;67(4):24–34.
- 88. Malandrino R, et al. Wound Manag Prev. 2022 ;68(2) :23–33.
- 89. Danielsen AK, et al. Colorectal Dis. 2015 ;17(1) :27–33.
- 90. Fleshman JW, Lewis MG. Semin Colon Rectal Surg. 2007 ;18(1) :19–24.
- 91. Lee SB, et al. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2016;68(7):974-80.
- 92. Ito E, et al. Int J Surg Case Rep. 2016;28:9–14.
- 93. Beamish EL, et al. Gut Microbes. 2023;15(1):2199659.
- 94. Rolls N, et al. Stoma care nurse specialist: the hidden value of this expert nursing role and service. 2019. www.coloplast.co.uk/Global/UK/Stoma/HCP/SCNS_The_hidden_value_of_this_expert_nursing_role.pdf (accessed May 2023).
- 95. Zhou H, et al. J Wound Ostomy Continence Nurs. 2019;46(5):413–17.
- 96. Nizum N, Jacob G. Adv Skin Wound Care. 2022;35(5):290-5.
- 97. Phatak UR, et al. Dis Colon Rectum. 2014;57:529–37.
- 98. Nagle D, et al. Dis Colon Rectum. 2012;55(12):1266–72.
- 99. Gocmen Baykara Z, et al. Wound Manag Prev. 2020;66(1):30–8.
- 100. Burgess-Stocks J, et al. 2022;49(3):251-60.
- 101. Hardiman KM, et al. Surgery. 2016;160(5):1302-08.
- 102. Wu HK, et al. Cancer Nurs. 2007;30(3):186-93.
- 103. Ayaz S, Kubilay G. J Clin Nurs. 2009;18(1):89–98.
- 104. Beaver K, Latif S, et al. J Clin Nurs. 2010;19(23–24):3291–300.
- 105. Hendren S, et al. Dis Colon Rectum. 2015;58(4):375-87.
- 106. Stelton S, et al. Adv Skin Wound Care. 2015;28(6):275-84; quiz 285-86.
- 107. Wound, Ostomy and Continence Nurses Society; Guideline Development Task Force. J Wound Ostomy Continence Nurs. 2018;45(1):50–8.
- 108. Mota MS, et al. Texto & Contexto Enfermagem 2016;25(1):1–8.
- 109. Cooper-Gamson L. Br J Nurs. 2017;26(17):S24–S8.
- 110. NHS England. The 6Cs. 2017. www.england.nhs.uk/6cs/wpcontent/uploads/sites/25/2015/03/introducing-the-6cs.pdf (accessed May 2023).
- 111. Foulds L, et al. Br J Nurs. 2015;24(Suppl 5):S4–S9.
- 112. Bird A, et al. Br J Nurs. 2019;28(5):S4–S5.
- 113. Ross L, et al. Support Care Cancer. 2007;15:505–13.
- 114. Liao C, Qin Y. Int J Nurs Sci. 2014;1:196–201.

- 115. Sarabi N, et al. World J Surg. 2017;41:2136–42.
- 116. Krouse R, et al. J Surg Res. 2007;138(1): 79–87.
- 117. Di Gesaro A. Gastrointest Nurs. 2016;14(2):38-44.
- 118. Black P. Lost after transition: the development of a conceptual framework and model for patients with colorectal cancer and a stoma who have completed therapeutic interventions. PhD thesis. Birmingham City University. 2018. www.open-access.bcu.ac.uk/8906/ (accessed May 2023).
- 119. Vonk-Klaassen SM, et al. Qual Life Res. 2016;25:125–33.
- 120. Andrade RS, et al. Int Arch Med. 2016;9:1–13.
- 121. Notter J, Burnard P. Gastrointest Nurs. 2012;10(6):16–24.
- 122. Black P, Notter J. Br J Nurs. 2021;30(6):S20–S32.
- 123. Guo L, et al. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2020;26:1010–106.
- 124. Wang Y, et al. Front Med (Lausanne). 2022;9:813367.
- 125. Pittman J, et al. J Wound Ostomy Continence Nurs. 2009;36(3):254-65.
- 126. Erwin-Toth P, et al. J Wound Ostomy Continence Nurs. 2012;39(4):417-22.
- 127. Sayar S, Vural F. Turk J Colorectal Dis. 2019;29(1):1–5.
- 128. Byfield D. J Wound Ostomy Continence Nurs. 2020;47(5):489–95.
- 129. Cross HH, Hottenstein P. J Wound Ostomy Continence Nurs. 2010;37(4):393–96.
- 130. Hugh W, et al. Ment Health Soc Incl. 2018;22(2):85–93.
- 131. Pittman J, et al. J Wound Ostomy Continence Nurs. 2017;44(6):550–6.
- 132. Prestin A, et al. J Health Commun. 2015;20(7):790-8.
- 133. Hong YA, Cho J. J Gerontol B Psychol Sci Soc Sci. 2017;72(5):856–63.
- 134. O'Connor G, et al. Eur J Oncol Nurs. 2010;14(4):271-77.
- 135. Repić G, et al. Acta Med Median. 2014;53(3):32-8.
- 136. Richbourg L, et al. J Wound Ostomy Continence Nurs. 2007;34(1):70–9.
- 137. Shaffy S, et al. Nurs Midwifery Res J. 2012;8(3):210-22.
- 138. Kara B, Aslan FE. Turk J Colorectal Dis. 2017;27:117–25.
- 139. Baldwin CM, et al. J Clin Sleep Med. 2009;5(4):335-43.
- 140. Mohler MJ, et al. Cur Med Res Opin. 2008;24:2059-70.
- 141. Prieto L, et al. Health Qual Life Outcomes. 2005;3(1):62–72.
- 142. Ceylan H, et al. J Nurs Res Pract. 2017;1(1):6-12.
- 143. Buysse DJ. Sleep. 2014;37(1):9–17.
- 144. Dabirian A, et al. Patient Prefer Adherence. 2010;5:1–5.
- 145. Harputlu D, et al. DEUHFED. 2020;13(2):19-26.
- 146. Avci Işik S, et al. J Wound Ostomy Continence Nurs. 2023;50(1):39-46.
- 147. Oliquiano NM, et al. Br J Nurs. 2021;30(22):S14–S22.
- 148. Department of Health. 2020. New campaign to prevent spread of coronavirus indoors this winter. www.gov.uk/government/news/new-campaign-to-prevent-spread-of-coronavirus-indoors-thiswinter#:~:text=A%20new%20science%20based%20public,'Hands (accessed May 2023).
- 149. Fearnhead N, et al. 2021. Joint ACPGBI BSG and BSGAR considerations for adapting the rapid access colorectal cancer pathway during COVID-19 pandemic. London: Association of Coloproctology of Great Britain and Ireland. www.bsg.org.uk/covid-19-advice/covid-19-advice-for-healthcare-professionals/joint-acgbbi-bsg-and-bsgar-considerations-for-adapting-the-rapid-access-colorectoral-cancer-pathway-during-covid-19-pandemic/ (accessed May 2023).
- 150. Royal College of Nursing. 2020. Remote consultations guidance under Covid-19 restrictions. www.rcn.org.uk/Professional-Development/publications/rcn-remote-consultations-guidance-undercovid-19-restrictions-pub-009256 (accessed May 2023).
- 151. Brewer A, Coleman V. Br J Nurs. 2022;31(1):8–14.
- 152. D'Antonio D, et al. SN Comprehensive Clinical Medicine. 2020;2(9):1302-5.
- 153. Fulham J, et al. Br J Nurs. 2020;29(22):S10–S12.
- 154. Augestad KM, et al. Br J Surg. 2020;107(5):509–18.
- 155. Yang S, et al. Ann Coloproctol. 2022; doi: 10.3393/ac.2022.00360.0051. Online ahead of print
- 156. Burch, J. Br J Nurs. 2014;23(17):S4–S10.
- 157. Zhang T, Qi X. J Multidiscip Healthc. 2023;16:297–308.

- 158. Jensen BT, et al. Eur J Oncol Nurs. 2017;28:41-6.
- 159. Merandy K, et al. Oncol Nurs Forum. 2017;44(3):E90–E100.
- 160. Hao H, et al. Digit Health. 2022;8:20552076221102772.
- 161. Zhou H, et al. J Wound Ostomy Continence Nurs. 2019;46(5):413-7.
- 162. Pazar B, et al. J Wound Ostomy Continence Nurs. 2015;42(3):264–70.
- 163. Furukawa C, et al. J Wound Ostomy Continence Nurs. 2013;40(2):165-70.
- 164. Cerruto MA, et al. Health Qual Life Outcomes. 2014;12:46.
- 165. Masiero M, et al. Ecancermedicalscience. 2021;15:1163.
- 166. Aibibula A, et al. Br J Nurs. 2022;31(6):S30-S39.
- 167. Hawthorne AB, et al. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2022;56(4):625–45.
- Crohn's and colitis care in the UK: the hidden cost and a vision for change. 2020. https://ibduk.org/reports/crohns-and-colitis-care-in-the-uk-the-hidden-cost-and-a-vision-for-change (accessed May 2023).
- 169. NHS England and NHS Improvement. Supported self-management. www.england.nhs.uk/personalisedcare/supported-self-management/ (accessed May 2023).
- 170. Everhov ÅH, et al. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2022;28(8):1160-8.
- 171. Oates, B. Gastroenterology GIRFT Programme National Specialty Report. 2021. https://gettingitrightfirsttime.co.uk/girft-reports/ (accessed May 2023).
- 172. Goodman W, et al. Qual Life Res. 2022;31(8):2435-44.
- 173. Davis KC, et al. J Sex Res. 2014;51(4):454-65.
- 174. Kelly PJ, et al. J Subst Abuse Treat. 2018;94:47–54.
- 175. Tanaka R, Nolan RP. J Med Internet Res. 2018;20(5):e149.
- 176. Choi EH, et al. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2021;18(15):7874.
- 177. Clark N, et al. J Aging Health. 1991;3(1):3–27.
- 178. Kennedy A, et al. Br Med J. 2007;335:968.
- 179. Hu A, et al. J Wound Ostomy Continence Nurs. 2014;41(5):455-9.
- 180. Jensen BT, et al. Urol Nurs. 2013;33(5):219–29.
- 181. Recalla S, et al. J Wound Ostomy Continence Nurs. 2013;40(5):489–500.
- 182. Riemenschneider K. J Wound Ostomy Continence Nurs. 2015;42(4):361-7.
- 183. Simmons KL, et al. J Adv Nurs. 2007;60(6):627-35.
- 184. Bekkers MJ, et al. Psychosom Med. 1996;58(2):183–91.
- 185. Van Houtum L, et al. Soc Behav Med. 2015;49(2):221-9.
- 186. Ausili D, et al. Prof Inferm. 2014;67(3):180-9.
- 187. Villa G, et al. Int J Urol Nurs. 2019;13:75–80.

Notes



If you would like to download and share a copy of this document 'Advancing Stoma Care Services: evidence-based proposals for a best practice pathway' with colleagues, please scan this QR code for the PDF version.



If you would like the 2-page summary of this document with clear recommendations for practice, scan this QR code to download your PDF